

INSTITUTIONEN FÖR KEMI OCH MOLEKYLÄRBIOLOGI

Systems-level investigation of the interaction between glucose metabolism and the Snf1/Mig1 signalling pathway

Niek Welkenhuysen

Institutionen för kemi och molekylärbiologi

Naturvetenskapliga fakulteten

Akademisk avhandling för filosofie doktorsexamen i Naturvetenskap med inriktning Biologi, som med tillstånd från Naturvetenskapliga fakulteten kommer att offentligt försvaras torsdag den 9 December 2016 kl. 09.00 i hörsal Carl Kylberg, Institutionen för Kemi och Molekylärbiologi, Medicinaregatan 3, Göteborg.

ISBN:978-91-629-0000-7

Systems-level investigation of the interaction between glucose metabolism and the Snf1/Mig1 signalling pathway

Doctoral thesis

Department of Chemistry and Molecular Biology University of Gothenburg Box 462, SE-405 30 Göteborg, Sweden

Cover picture: Artistic representation of the cell by Karl Persson

Copyright

© Niek Welkenhuysen, 2016.

All rights reserved. No parts of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without prior written permission.

Online version

ISBN: 978-91-628-9999-8 Available at http://hdl.handle.net/2077/48249

Print version ISBN: 978-91-629-0000-7



Printed and bound by Ineko AB, 2016

"Excelsior!"

- Stan Lee

Abstract

Saccharomyces cerevisiae Snf1 and its mammalian homolog, AMPK, are members of a protein kinase family present throughout the Eukaryotic kingdom. AMPK plays an essential role in different cellular processes and is involved in diseases such as diabetes, obesity and cancer. Snf1 in yeast is a central component of metabolic switching and influences a broad spectrum of cellular processes such as lipid synthesis, glucose uptake and glucose metabolism. This kinase also plays a distinct role in other stress responses. When glucose becomes limiting, the Snf1 kinase phosphorylates, among others, the Mig1 transcriptional repressor causing it to exit the nucleus, resulting in derepression of gene expression. Many components of glucose signalling are already known, however there are still some caveats in our knowledge. Here, additional details are presented on how glucose metabolism influences the functioning of the Snf1/Mig1 pathway and how the glucose signalling interaction network is integrated with other cellular processes. Another aspect of this work centred on the individual yeast cells responses to glucose. Both empirical observations and mathematical modelling was used to predict the outcome of glucose signalling and to identify the source(s) of the significant cellto-cell variability in the response to carbon source availability. We report a novel modelling approach to explain cell-to-cell variability in the response of individual yeast cells to glucose and reconstruct large signalling networks. Taken together, the importance of individuality of single yeast cells is highlighted by glucose signalling displaying considerable variability at the level of individuals. Furthermore, this work shows that glucose metabolism mediates a dynamic and stringent regulation of Snf1/Mig1 pathway dynamic.

Keywords: glucose signalling, microfluidics, Saccharomyces cerevisiae.

List of papers

- I. Niek Welkenhuysen, Johannes Borgqvist, Mattias Backman, Loubna Bendrioua, Mattias Goksör, Caroline B. Adiels, Marija Cvijovic, Stefan Hohmann. Single-cell study links metabolism with nutrient signalling and reveals sources of variability. FEBS Journal. under review
- II. Niek Welkenhuysen, Gregor Schmidt, Stefan Hohmann. Mig1 requires glucose phosphorylation for transient nuclear localization but Hxk2 to repress SUC2. manuscript in preparation
- III. Timo Lubitz , Niek Welkenhuysen, Sviatlana Shashkova, Loubna Bendrioua, Stefan Hohmann , Edda Klipp and Markus Krantz. Network reconstruction and validation of the Snf1/AMPK pathway in baker's yeast based on a comprehensive literature review. npj Systems Biology and Applications 2015 1, 15007.
- IV. Adam J. M. Wollman*, Niek Welkenhuysen*, Stefan Hohmann, Mark C. Leake. Dynamic time-resolved sub-cellular proteomics. Nature Methods brief communication, *manuscript in preparation*
- V. Kristofer Bodvard*, Ken Peeters*, Friederike Roger*, Natalie Romanov, Aeid Igbaria, Niek Welkenhuysen, Wolfgang Reiter, Michel B. Toledano, Mikael Käll and Mikael Molin, Light-sensing via hydrogen peroxide and a peroxiredoxin. Nature Communications, manuscript resubmitted

*: authors contributed equally

Paper contributions

Paper I-II, IV

I performed all the experimental work, contributed to the modelling and contributed to a major part of the writing for the manuscript.

Paper II

I performed the major part of the experimental work, and contributed to a major part of the writing for the manuscript.

Paper III

I performed a part of the literature review and wrote a minor part of the manuscript.

Paper IV

I performed the major part of the experimental work, and contributed to a major part of the writing for the manuscript.

Paper V

I assisted in data analysis and contributed to the script for data analysis.

Papers not included

Soheil Rastgou Talemi*, Carl-Fredrik Tiger*, Mikael Andersson, Roja Babazadeh, **Niek Welkenhuysen**, Edda Klipp, Stefan Hohmann, Jörg Schaber, Systems Level Analysis of the Yeast Osmo-Stat, **Scientific Reports** 2016 6,30950.

Sviatlana Shashkova *, **Niek Welkenhuysen** *, Stefan Hohmann. Molecular communication: crosstalk between the Snf1 and other signaling pathways. **FEMS Yeast Research**. 2015 Jun; 15(4):fov026. **[review]**

Niek Welkenhuysen, Caroline B. Adiels, Mattias Goksör and Stefan Hohmann. Applying microfluidic device to study effects of glucose at single cell level. Glucose Transport volume, Methods in Molecular Biology, *under review* [bookchapter]

*: authors contributed equally

Table of contents

1	Preface: what is life?1				
2	Nutrients: the building blocks of life				
3.	Yeast as a model organism5				
4	Yeast metabolism: processing the building blocks8				
	4.1 Glucose uptake: the Hexose transporters10				
	4.2 Glycolysis: the first steps of glucose metabolism14				
	4.3 Further metabolism				
5	Glucose signalling20				
	5.1 cAMP-PKA pathway20				
	5.2 Snf3/Rgt2 pathway23				
	5.3 Snf1 pathway26				
	5.3.1 AMPK in higher Eukaryotes26				
	5.3.2 Components of the Snf1 pathway27				
	5.3.3 Snf1 pathway targets				
	5.3.4 Glucose derepression through the Snf1/Mig1 pathway is a two-step process 32				
	5.3.5 Functions of the Snf1 regulatory network in other stress responses35				
	5.3.6 Crosstalk between Snf1 pathway and other nutrient signalling pathways				
6.	Cell-to-cell variability				
7.	. Microfluidic systems42				
8.	Systems biology44				

8	3.1 Mathematical modelling	.46
9.	Summary of the appended papers	.50
ç	9.1 Main findings Paper I	.50
Ç	9.2 Main findings Paper 2	.50
Ç	9.3 Main findings Paper 3	.51
ç	9.4 Main findings Paper 4	.51
ç	9.5 Main findings Paper 5	.51
10.	Conclusion and perspectives	52
]	10.1 Glucose repression	52
]	10.2 Cell-to-cell variability	54
]	10.3 What is life now really?	54
11	Acknowledgements	.56
12	References	58

1 Preface: what is life?

Life is defined by systems which can reproduce, respond to stimuli, process information and maintain balances. These systems can consist of millions of cells organized in complex structures, such as humans, or be composed of a single individual cell such as the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Living cells are able to operate due to molecules from metabolites such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to macromolecules such as proteins, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and complexes thereof (e.g. ribosomes). Accordingly, cells can carry out a wide variety of chemical reactions to produce and consume a broad spectrum of molecules. We still do not completely understand the workings of living cells, particularly about how information is transduced and how cells generate an appropriate response. With this work and the scientific articles produced during my PhD education I hope to have contributed to the knowledge about how living cells work and define further what life is.

2 Nutrients: the building blocks of life

Nutrients, such as carbon sources, provide the cell with the energy and the building blocks that are essential for its survival and proliferation. In the cell environment, a broad spectrum of usable nutrients is present, comprising the basic building blocks such as C, N, P, H etc. The cell needs to import these nutrients and afterwards metabolize them into the various cellular components. Many organisms are able to compensate for the decreasing availability of one substrate through the utilization of another. Typically, the cell prefers to use richer substrates before the substrates with a lower nutritional value. To alter the substrate which is used, the cell requires a switch in its gene expression profile. This extensive cell reprogramming requires a rigorous regulation of nutrient uptake and usage. To achieve this switch, several nutrient-controlled signalling pathways are activated or inactivated. As will be discussed later, the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* has been a favoured model organism to study metabolism and metabolic regulation (Rodkaer and Faergeman 2014).

Some key nutrients are sensed extracellularly, but for many other nutrients, a sensing system remains to be discovered. It is hard to imagine that one organism would have extracellular sensors for all conceivable nutrients in the environment. Therefore it could be that the cell identifies these metabolites in another way. It seems that for the majority of nutrients there is a need of at least partial metabolism before a stimulus is generated (Huberts *et al.* 2012). For example, sensing of glucose occurs through membrane receptors, such as in the Snf3-Rgt2 pathway, or by intracellular sensing mechanisms, such as in the Snf1-Mig1 pathway (Conrad *et al.* 2014). Glucose sensing pathways that employ membrane-localized receptors are relatively well understood. However, the sensing mechanism of intracellular glucose or metabolites from glycolysis is not completely understood (Broach 2012,

Conrad *et al.* 2014). Among those pathways sensing metabolites intracellularly is the AMPK/Snf1 system. This system controls energy homeostasis and is mainly known for its role in glucose de/repression. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* preferentially uses rapidly fermentable sugars, like glucose, fructose or mannose as a carbon source. In the presence of preferable carbons sources the Snf1 pathway is inactivated. However, in absence of preferable carbon sources the Snf1 pathway is activated, and this allows for the upregulation of components required for the utilization of alternative carbon sources.

3. Yeast as a model organism

The unicellular budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is commonly used in beer brewing, winemaking, food production and synthesis of many useful compounds (Figure 1). *S. cerevisiae* has served as research subject in many fundamental and ground-breaking studies, some of which have earnt their authors a Nobel prize (Hohmann 2016). Yeast distinguish themselves as model organisms to study mammalian cells because, in contrast to other unicellular organisms such as bacteria and archaea, they have organelles such as mitochondria and nuclei. Despite the evolutionary distance between yeast and mammals, they still share elementary cellular processes on a fundamental level (Figure 1). Shared processes between mammalians and yeasts include, but are not restricted to, metabolism, transcriptional regulation, cytoskeleton dynamics, organelle synthesis, protein folding and secretion (Botstein and Fink 2011). Since basic cellular processes in yeast and mammalian cells are similar, the cellular implications of human diseases such as Alzheimer and Parkinson can be studied in yeast cells (Khurana and Lindquist 2010) (Figure 1).

A large toolbox of experimental methods has been established for *S. cerevisiae*. Databases and collections, such as the genomic deletion, epitope and fluorescence tagged protein collections, and yeast two-hybrid screening, are available to study *S. cerevisiae* (Ghaemmaghami *et al.* 2003, Khurana and Lindquist 2010). Yeast was the first eukaryotic organism whose complete genome sequence was deciphered (Goffeau *et al.* 1996). In the 1.3×10^4 kbp long genome there are over 6000 ORFs of which 80% have a known function and 60% have a homologue in the human genome (Ghaemmaghami *et al.* 2003, Khurana and Lindquist 2010). Further advantages are that yeast has a rather short generation time, is inexpensive, easy to handle, can be stored for longer periods, is harmless to humans, and is genetically

relatively stable. Another important advantage is that the yeast genome is straightforward to manipulate as a result of an efficient system for homologous recombination (Miller-Fleming *et al.* 2008). Information about the genome and associated discoveries about genes and proteins can be easily found in the Saccharomyces Genome Database (http://www.yeastgenome.org). Finally, its capacity to grow under a wide variety of conditions has made yeast a fruitful model to study metabolic phenomena and metabolic signalling (Rodkaer and Faergeman 2014).



Figure 1: The yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its applications. In the middle a microscopic transmission image of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* cells obtained during a typical microfluidic experiment. Around the middle picture are several images of applications in which *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* can be utilized. From left hand side counter clockwise is beer and winemaking, bread production, synthesis of chemical components, basic research (indicated as cell cycle control) and human diseases (indicated as protein aggregation of α -synuclein).

4 Yeast metabolism: processing the building blocks

As discussed in the previous chapter; the environment of the cell contains many valuable nutrients. An efficient and rapid metabolism gives an organism a big evolutionary advantage when competing with other organisms for the same nutrients. Metabolism comprises a series of chemical reactions, and can be divided into two separate parts, catabolism and anabolism. Anabolism is the process whereby the cell produces complex molecules for the build-up of cell mass from simple chemical building blocks. Catabolism provides the cell with energy to balance the energy homeostasis. This process is similar to combustion, whereby fuel is converted into water and energy. In the cell this happens stepwise, which increases the efficiency of the process, prevents too much energy from being released at once, and enables the capture of energy in the form of ATP (Lodish et al. 2008). S. cerevisiae is a facultative anaerobic organism and has two modes of catabolism; respiration and fermentation. During growth, yeast has several phases, in the first phase rapid growth is achieved by fermentation of high yield carbon sources such as glucose. During fermentation, genes required for respiration and other carbon sources are repressed. Fermentation is an anaerobic process in which sugars are converted into ethanol and CO_2 . When these high yield fermentable carbon sources become limited, the yeast switches to respiration. The switch requires a change in metabolic activity and is called a diauxic shift (Galdieri et al. 2010). In respiration, the substrates are fully oxidized to H_2O and CO_2 in an aerobic process. Fermentation is preferred over respiration in S. cerevisiae, despite fermentation having a lower energy yield (Pfeiffer and Morley 2014). This phenomenon is called the Crabtree effect (Coleman et al. 2015).

The Crabtree effect has arisen through several evolutionary events, such as a whole-genome duplication, regulatory rewiring of yeast energy metabolism and hexose transporter duplications (Pfeiffer and Morley 2014). The Crabtree effect is very similar to the Warburg effect, a phenomenon where cancer cells prefer fermentation over respiration (Gatenby and Gillies 2004). Interestingly, fermentation produces ethanol in yeast and lactic acid in cancer cells. It has been suggested that the toxicity of these end-products could be a plausible explanation for the evolutionary choice for respiration. It has been shown that the production of lactic acid acidifies the cancer microenvironment and thereby gives an advantage to the rapidly adapting cancer cells (Gatenby and Gillies 2004, Alfarouk et al. 2011). Alcohol production can also be advantageous for yeast in the competition for nutrient source with competing organisms, since alcohol has toxic effects on most organisms. Further, in later growth stages alcohol can be consumed by yeast when sugars are depleted, and therefore serve as alternative carbon source (Pfeiffer and Morley 2014). Other arguments suggest that respiration requires more enzymes than fermentation, and that the cost of producing these would make fermentation more efficient (Pfeiffer and Morley 2014). It has been, and remains, a subject of discussion why fermentation is advantageous over respiration in certain situations, and its evolutionary origin remains ambiguous.

4.1 Glucose uptake: the Hexose transporters

The permeability of molecules through membranes is confined to small molecules such as CO_2 , O_2 and small uncharged polar molecules such as ethanol and H_2O . These molecules can pass membranes by passive diffusion. Other molecules require active or passive transporters to pass through membranes (Lodish *et al.* 2008).

For the transit of the hexose sugars glucose, fructose and mannose through the cell membrane, facilitated diffusion is necessary. In *S. cerevisiae* this is achieved by a sub-group in a class of membrane transport proteins named the major facilitator superfamily (MFS). This superfamily is expressed ubiquitously in all biological kingdoms and is accountable for the import and export of a large range of metabolites (Marger and Saier 1993). The hexose transporter group consist of 20 different hexose transport-like proteins and includes Hxt1-17, Snf3, Rgt2 and Gal2 (Kruckeberg 1996, Özcan and Johnston 1999, Horak 2013).

The hexose transporters can be subdivided into three sub-groups based on their kinetic properties for glucose. These groups are the low affinity transporters (Km = 50-110 mM), intermediate affinity transporters (Km =10-20 mM) and finally the high affinity transporters (Km = 1-10 mM) (Table 1) (Reifenberger et al. 1997, Maier et al. 2002, Horak 2013). Besides having different kinetic properties, another distinction between the subgroups are the conditions in which they are expressed. The low affinity group is mainly responsible for glucose uptake in high extracellular glucose concentrations, andin low extracellular glucose concentrations, the high affinity transporters are expressed. Hxt1 and Hxt3 are considered low affinity transporters; Hxt2, Hxt4, Hxt5 are considered intermediate affinity transporters; Hxt6 and Hxt7 are considered high affinity transporters. The genes for Hxt8 to Hxt17 are not included in this classification since they are insufficiently characterized. Knock-out strains of these genes do not cause any specific phenotypes. Experimental evidence has suggested that the function of Hxt8 to Hxt17 could be in drug resistance rather than hexose transport (Nourani *et al.* 1997). However when overexpressed in a complete knock out strain for hexose transporters they are able to complement the transport of hexoses with the exception of Hxt12 (Wieczorke *et al.* 1999). Snf3 and Rgt2 are outliers in this hexose transporter family because they have evolved from hexose transporters to hexose sensors. Their main function as a glucose sensor is in regulation of hexose transporter gene expression; they will be discussed more extensively below (chapter 5.2 Snf3/Rgt2 pathway). Gal2 is a galactose transporter which also is able to transport glucose. Expression of the *GAL2* gene is induced by galactose and repressed by glucose (Boles and Hollenberg 1997).

Table 1: Overview of the yeast transporter. The transporters can be divided into three classes. For each transporter the experimentally determined Michaelis–Menten import kinetics (Km) for glucose and the known expression conditions are given. Hxt8 to Hxt17 are poorly defined and not included in the table.

transporte	Km	expression	Citations			
r	(mM)					
Low affi	nity transp	orters				
Hxt1	+/-100	300 fold by high extracell. glc	(Reifenberger et al. 1997, Maier et al.			
		(>1%)	2002)			
Hxt3	+/-30-60	weakly dependent on glucose	(Reifenberger et al. 1997, Maier et al.			
			2002)			
Intermediate affinity transporters						
Hxt2	+/-10	expressed around 0.1% glc,	(Wendell and Bisson 1994, Özcan and			
		repressed in high glc	Johnston 1996, Maier et al. 2002)			
		10-20 fold				
Hxt4	+/-10	expressed around 0.1% glc,	(Özcan and Johnston 1996, Maier et			
		repressed in high glc	al. 2002)			
		10-20 fold				
Hxt5	+/-10	regulated by growth (max at	(Diderich et al. 2001, Verwaal et al.			
		slow growth rate) STREs and	2002)			
		HAP elements in promoter				
High affinity transporters						
Hxt6	+/-1	highly expressed at very low	(Reifenberger et al. 1997, Maier et al.			
		glc conc	2002)			
Hxt7	+/-1	highly expressed at very low	(Reifenberger et al. 1997, Maier et al.			
		glc conc	2002)			

The regulation of hexose transporter expression and degradation is highly complex. Expression of *HXT1-4* and *HXT6* and *HXT7* is mainly controlled by the Snf3/Rgt2 pathway. However, additional pathways are involved in expression of these transporters, such as the Snf1-Mig1 and the cAMP-PKA pathway (Boles and Hollenberg 1997, Özcan and Johnston 1999, Horak 2013). Micro-array studies show that the expression of the HXT genes is regulated by both Mig1 and Mig2. The activity of these transcription factors in the expression and repression of the HXT genes depends on the extracellular glucose levels (Westholm *et al.* 2008). Expression of *HXT5* is not directly controlled by glucose concentration (Verwaal *et al.* 2002). The *HXT5* promoter has several different types of regulatory elements: stress-responsive elements (STREs), one putative post-diauxic shift (PDS) element and two putative Hap2/3/4/5p (HAP) complex binding elements. This suggests that the expression of *HXT5* to be regulated by multiple pathways (Verwaal *et al.* 2004).

It is not only the expression of the hexose transporters which are regulated, but also their turn-over rate. It is known that the high affinity transporters Hxt7 and Hxt6 are internalized and degraded after the cell is exposed to high glucose concentrations (Krampe *et al.* 1998). Degradation of Hxt7 requires inactivation of TORC1, through rapamycin treatment, or Ras2 through growth on gluconeogenic carbon sources (Snowdon *et al.* 2008, Snowdon and van der Merwe 2012). Moreover, it has been found that also Hxt1 is actively internalized and degraded when glucose is depleted, possibly regulated by PKA (Roy *et al.* 2014). This clearly demonstrates that there is a complex regulation network in place to control the hexose transporter levels in the yeast cell.

The rate of glycolysis is determined by the glucose uptake rate into the cell. Glucose uptake and other steps in glucose metabolism are often hard to study since genetic manipulation of metabolism often causes severe secondary effects or lethality. Fortunately, a set of isogenic strains is available with each strain expressing only single hexose transporters and displaying different glucose uptake rates. This set allows for the investigation of the connection between glucose signalling and different glycolytic rates (Elbing *et al.* 2004, Elbing *et al.* 2004). Some strains of this set have been used in **paper I**.

4.2 Glycolysis: the first steps of glucose metabolism

Glycolysis is the pathway where glucose is degraded into pyruvate through a series of enzymatically catalysed reactions. During the reactions, ATP and NADH are produced. The overall net yield of glycolysis is two ATPs per glucose molecule. Glycolysis does not require any specific organelles and happens in the cytosol (Lodish *et al.* 2008). The cells have to adjust the glycolysis rate according to the energy need. This requires high control of the glycolytic rate. To achieve this control of glycolysis, the cell regulates several enzymes of the glycolysis pathway and the hexose transporters. Several pathways are involved in this process which we discuss further in other chapters.

In the first phase of glycolysis D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (GDAP) is produced. This phase does not generate energy, but instead two ATP molecules per glucose molecule are consumed (Figure 2) (Lodish et al. 2008). During this preparatory phase, fructose enters straight into the glycolytic pathway after import and is phosphorylated by the hexokinases Hxk1 and Hxk2 to fructose-6-phosphate (F6P) (Lobo and Maitra 1977). Glucose and mannose are converted into glucose-6phosphate (G6P) and mannose-6-phosphate (M6P), respectively, by all the sugar kinases (Hxk1, Hxk2 and Glk1) (Lobo and Maitra 1977, Maitra and Lobo 1983). To enter glycolysis, G6P is converted to F6P by the homo-tetrameric phosphoglucose isomerase Pgi1 (Lowe and Reithel 1975, Aguilera and Zimmermann 1986). Pmi40, a M6P isomerase, catalyses the isomerization between M6P and F6P (Gracy and Noltmann 1968). F6P is converted into fructose-1,6bisphosphate (F1,6BP), catalysed phosphofructokinase. by yeast

Phosphofructokinase is a hetero-octamer and this enzyme complex consists of four α -subunits Pfk1 and 4 β -subunits Pfk2 (Heinisch 1986). The β -subunits are catalytically active, whereas the α -subunits serve a regulatory function. However, upon loss of function from one type of subunit, the other type of subunit seems to be able to compensate for the loss (Arvanitidis and Heinisch 1994). F1,6BP is the first point where these metabolic pathways merge. It has been shown that F1,6BP allosterically controls pyruvate kinase activity (Kochanowski et al. 2013, Ros and Schulze 2013). In the next step of glycolysis, the C6 molecule F1,6BP is split by Fba1 into two 3C molecules, D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (GDAP) and dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) by Fba1 (Schwelberger et al. 1989). For further glycolysis, DHAP is converted to GDAP by triosephosphate isomerase which is a Tpi1 dimer (Alber and Kawasaki 1982, Lolis et al. 1990). From DHAP, glycerol can be produced as a by-product of glucose metabolism through two distinct steps by glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and glycerol-3-phosphatase. Glycerol production is important in the response to osmotic stress and for redoxbalancing (Hohmann 2002).

Energy is generated during the second phase of glycolysis. In the conversion of GDAP to pyruvate two ATP and one NADH is generated. GDAP is converted into 1,3-bis-phosphoglycerate (BPG) by Tdh1,2 and 3. Each isoenzyme contributes differently to the GDAP dehydrogenase activity, and none of them seems to be essential (McAlister and Holland 1985). In the next step, Pgk1 catalyses transfer of a high-energy phosphoryl group from the acyl phosphate of BPG to ADP to produce ATP and 3-phosphoglycerate (3PGA) (Hitzeman *et al.* 1980, Blake and Rice 1981). Phosphoglycerate mutase mediates the conversion of 3PGA to 2-phosphoglycerate (2PGA). In yeast, phosphoglycerate mutase contains four subunits which consist of Gpm1(Blake and Rice 1981). Gpm1 has two paralogs Gpm2 and Gpm3, which might be catalytically non-functional because they seem unable to compensate for loss of Gpm1 function (Heinisch *et al.* 1998). Conversion of 2PGA to phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) is catalysed by the phosphopyruvate

hydratase complex which consists of the enolases Eno1 and Eno2 (McAlister and Holland 1982). The pyruvate kinases, Cdc19 and Pyk2, catalyse the conversion of PEP into pyruvate. Cdc19 seems to be the main pyruvate kinase for growth on glucose (Sprague 1977), while Pyk2 deletion only has noticeable defects in combination with the Cdc19 deletion (Boles *et al.* 1997). Pyruvate is the final metabolite in glycolysis and can then be used in anaerobic (fermentation) or aerobic (respiration) metabolism.

The hexokinases, and especially Hxk2, have been attributed an important role in the glucose signalling network and therefore have been a source of much debate. Timelapse analyses show that glucose repression consists of a short- and a long-term response. The short-term repression can be mediated by any one of the three glucose kinases, but if Hxk2 is absent, this response is only transient. For full longterm repression Hxk2 is required (De Winde et al. 1996, Sanz et al. 1996). Hxk2 does not seem to have a unique role in glucose repression, since Hxk1 also contributes to repression, especially when fructose is the available carbon source (De Winde et al. 1996). The work in paper II suggests that the initial response requires only the presence of a carbon source, while for a sustained repression, a high rate of glycolytic flux is needed. A detailed mechanism about how Hxk2 regulates glucose signalling has been suggested, where Hxk2 would play a stabilizing role in the interaction between Snf1 and downstream transcription factor Mig1 under high glucose conditions. In the proposed mechanism, Hxk2 would act as an intracellular glucose sensor (Vega et al. 2016), however, some of these claims have been controversial and disputed (Kriegel et al. 2016). The precise regulatory role of Hxk2 in the glucose signalling network remains obscure.



Figure 2: First steps of the glycolysis. Abbreviations; F6P: fructose-6-phosphate, G6P: glucose-6-phosphate, M6P: mannose-6-phosphate, F1,6BP: fructose-1,6-bisphosphate, DHAP: dihydroxyacetone phosphate, DGAP: D-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate, BPG: 1,3-bis-phosphoglycerate, 3PGA: 3-phosphoglycerate; 2PGA: 2-phosphoglycerate, PEP: phosphoenolpyruvate. Only the enzymes for the forward reactions are given, not for the reverse reactions, if any specified.

4.3 Further metabolism

When glucose is metabolized to pyruvate in glycolysis, only a fraction of the energy available in glucose has been extracted and converted to ATP and NADH. Yeast preferably converts the pyruvate to ethanol and CO₂ via acetaldehyde. This anaerobic degradation of glucose, called fermentation, the basis of alcohol production, only serves as redox regulation (NADH re-oxidation) and produces no additional energy. Acetaldehyde is generated from pyruvate by one of three pyruvate decarboxylase isozymes (Schmitt and Zimmermann 1982). Pdc1 is the major pyruvate decarboxylase and is highly expressed during growth on glucose (Seeboth et al. 1990). Pdc5 seems to be expressed when Pdc1 loses its function (Hohmann and Cederberg 1990). The exact role of Pdc6 is unknown, but as it expressed during sulphur limitation, Pdc6 might have a role in sulphur-limited growth (Hohmann 1991, Boer et al. 2003). Finally, acetaldehyde is converted to ethanol by alcohol dehydrogenases. In yeast there are five genes that encode alcohol dehydrogenases, ADH1 to ADH5 (Smith et al. 2004). Only Adh1, Adh3 and Adh5 are involved in ethanol production, Adh4 functions as a formaldehyde dehydrogenase (Drewke et al. 1990) and Adh2 is an alcohol dehydrogenase involved in alcohol consumption (Ganzhorn et al. 1987).

When oxygen is available, yeast will first ferment glucose to ethanol and some glycerol, followed by a diauxic shift and thereafter a purely respiratory phase will take place. Respiration requires the presence of oxygen. Aerobic degradation happens via oxidative phosphorylation of pyruvate with O_2 to CO_2 in the mitochondria. In respiration, pyruvate is imported into the mitochondria. The uptake into the mitochondria is mediated by the mitochondrial pyruvate carrier (Bricker *et al.* 2012). Pyruvate is converted into acetyl-CoA through oxidative decarboxylation by the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC). The complex consist of three major catalytic components called El, E2 and E3 (Pronk *et al.*

1996). These last steps connect glycolysis and the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) or citric acid cycle by generating acetyl-CoA which is the start product of the TCA cycle.

During the TCA cycle more ATP and NADH is produced through eight biochemical reactions which oxidize acetyl-CoA to CO_2 and H_2O . The produced NADH is consumed to generate an electrochemical proton gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane by mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase complex. This complex consists of a large number of polypeptide subunits (Cooper *et al.* 1991). Mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase catalyses the electron transfer and proton translocation reactions across membranes (Lodish *et al.* 2008). ATP synthase is another large complex in the mitochondria which utilizes the electrochemical gradient to produce ATP (Velours and Arselin 2000).



Figure 3: Fermentative and oxidative glucose metabolism. Pyruvate is generated in glycolysis. During respiration (left hand side) pyruvate is converted to Acetyl-CoA where it enters the TCA cycle. During fermentation pyruvate is converted into ethanol via acetaldehyde (right hand side). Only enzymes for forward reactions or given not for the reverse reactions, if any specified.

5 Glucose signalling

Signalling encompasses the entire process of sensing stimuli, generating intracellular signals, signal transduction and the generation of an appropriate response. Signalling processes are employed by cells to monitor their environment and respond to changes in environmental or internal conditions. Efficient use of nutrients requires extensive readjustment of metabolism following exposure to new, or depletion of, substrates. Glucose signalling therefore represses a large set of yeast genes to achieve reprogramming of the cell in response to changes in glucose concentrations. In S. *cerevisiae*, an upshift in glucose concentration results in at least a threefold change in the levels of 20%, and a twofold expression change of 40%, of all genes (Wang *et al.* 2004). Three pathways play a major role in the response to glucose signalling in *S. cerevisiae*. These are the PKA-cAMP pathway, the Snf3/Rgt2 pathway, and the Snf1 pathway, which are involved in cellular programming following depletion of fermentable carbon sources, and together they form a large gene regulatory network.

5.1 cAMP-PKA pathway

The protein Kinase A (PKA) is not solely part of a glucose-sensing pathway, but appears to monitor the cumulative presence of all essential nutrients as well as stress factors. When an essential nutrient is missing or depleted, the PKA pathway is downregulated (Conrad *et al.* 2014). PKA, the central component in this pathway, is a heterotetramer consisting of two catalytic subunits Tpk1, Tpk2 or Tpk3, and two regulatory subunits (Bcy1) (Toda *et al.* 1987, Toda *et al.* 1987) (Figure 4). Glucose is sensed by the PKA pathway through two independent systems, one extracellullar and one intracellullar. Extracellular glucose is sensed by

the G-protein coupled receptor Gpr1 and its associated Ga protein, Gpa2 (Nakafuku et al. 1988, Xue et al. 1998). The PKA-pathway can also be activated through Ras1/2 by stimuli originating from glycolysis (Rolland et al. 2000, Colombo et al. 2004). It has been suggested that intracellular acidification would activate the Ras proteins (Colombo et al. 1998). However, glucose phosphorylation through Hxk1, Hxk2, or Glk1 is still required for Ras activation (Colombo et al. 2004). The Ras GTPase activity is regulated through binding with GDP/GTP (Broach and Deschenes 1990). The switch from the GDP-bound inactive form to the GTP-bound active form is catalyzed by Cdc25 and Sdc25, two Guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF). The reverse action, the hydrolysis of GTP to GDP, is driven by the GTPase-activating proteins (GAP) Ira1 and Ira2 (Broek et al. 1987, Tanaka et al. 1990, Boy-Marcotte et al. 1996). It has been implied that the Ras1/2 activity would be regulated through inhibition of Ira1 and Ira2 (Colombo et al. 2004). The signaling from Ras 1/2 and Gpr1 converge on adenylate cyclase Cyr1 by increasing its activity (Kataoka et al. 1985). Adenylate cyclase catalyzes the synthesis of the secondary messenger cAMP from ATP (Lodish et al. 2008). Antagonistically, cAMP is degraded to AMP by phodiesterases Pde1 and Pde2 (Sass et al. 1986, Nikawa et al. 1987). cAMP, in turn, increases PKA activity by binding to Bcy1.

Active PKA has a wide variety of targets in the cell. PKA directly phosphorylates several cytosolic enzymes and regulates gene expression by interacting with transcription factors such as Msn2 and Msn4 (Conrad *et al.* 2014). The nuclear localization of Msn2 is inhibited by PKA when glucose is available (Huh *et al.* 2003). Under low glucose Msn2 binds to stress response promoter element (STRE) and increases transcription (Schmitt and McEntee 1996). In addition, components of other signalling pathway are target of the PKA kinase (Conrad *et al.* 2014).



Figure 4: The cAMP-PKA pathway. A simplified schematic representation of the cAMP-PKA pathway. Gpr1 and Gpa2 sense glucose extracellularly. Via an unknown mechanism, Ras1-2 is activated by guanine nucleotide exchange. These two pathways converge on Cyr1 which catalyses the synthesis of cAMP. cAMP activates the PKA complex which inactivates transcriptional activators such as Msn2 who bind STRE genes in active form.

The cAMP-PKA pathway is not restricted to roles in nutrient sensing. It is also activated under a range of different stress factors, including light. Sensing of blue light involves Pox1, a Fatty-acyl coenzyme A oxidase, which is located in the peroxisomal membrane. Upon excitation by light, Pox1 catalyzes the removal of hydrogen atoms from specific organic substrates and transfers these to molecular oxygen and this reaction creates H_2O_2 (Dmochowska *et al.* 1990, Hockberger *et al.* 1999). The 2-Cys peroxiredoxin Tsa1 reduces H_2O_2 in H_2O , and this creates an inactive oxized form of Tsa1 (Peskin et al. 2013). The reactivation of Tsa1 requires the donation of electrons from cytosolic thioredoxins Trx1 and Trx2 to restore its catalytic activity and the Trx1 become themselve oxidized. The oxidized thioredoxins modulate the PKA-pathway through a currently unknown mechanism and this results in Msn2 dephosphorylation. This implies that H₂O₂ acts as a secondary messenger that inhibits PKA function. The inhibition of phosphorylation of Msn2 allows Msn2 to localise to the nucleus and consequently a general stress response is established, even in the presence of glucose. Work included in this thesis proposed a mechanism for light detection in organisms which lack dedicated light sensors (**Paper V**).

5.2 Snf3/Rgt2 pathway

The Snf3/Rgt2 regulatory network controls hexose transporter expression and glycolytic genes in cooperation with the other glucose sensing pathways (Özcan and Johnston 1996, Özcan and Johnston 1999, Palomino *et al.* 2006). The number of genes regulated by the Snf3-Rgt2 regulatory network is limited in comparison with the Snf1/Mig1 pathway and the cAMP-PKA (Kaniak *et al.* 2004, Zaman *et al.* 2009, Horak 2013). The function of the Rgt2/Snf3 pathway is thereby more specific and restricted mainly to fine-tuning glucose uptake (Westholm *et al.* 2008). The

key components of this pathway are the glucose sensors Snf3 and Rgt2 and the repressor Rgt1 (Figure 5). As discussed earlier, Snf3 and Rgt2 both belong to the hexose transporter family (Özcan *et al.* 1998). Through evolution these have lost their transporter function and now function solely as a glucose sensor (Özcan *et al.* 1996). Snf3 has a high binding affinity for glucose and senses low glucose concentrations, while Rgt2 binds glucose with a low affinity and therefore senses high glucose concentrations (Moriya and Johnston 2004). Rgt1 functions both as a transcriptional repressor and activator (Özcan *et al.* 1996, Kim *et al.* 2006).

The sensors Snf3 and Rgt2 inhibit the functions of Std1 and Mth1 when bound to glucose (Kim *et al.* 2006). This inhibition is mediated by recruiting Std1 and Mth1 to the plasma membrane, where they become phosphorylated by the casein kinases I; Yck1 and Yck2 (Moriya and Johnston 2004). Both Yck1 and Yck2 are activated by stabilization through binding with Sod1 in response to glucose (Reddi and Culotta 2013). Phosphorylation targets Mth1 and Std1 for ubiquitination by SCF (Grr1) ubiquitin-protein ligase. Consequently, ubiquitination targets Mth1 and Std1 to the proteasome for degradation (Flick *et al.* 2003, Kim *et al.* 2006). Mth1 and Std1 degradation makes Rgt1 available for phosphorylation on multiple sites by PKA subunit Tpk3 or by a Tpk3-dependent protein kinase. Consequently, Rgt1 becomes hyper-phosphorylated and is converted into a transcription activator (Mosley *et al.* 2003).

Under glucose limitation, Rgt1 acts as an inhibitor together with Mth1 and Std1 as it forms a repressor complex (Tomas-Cobos and Sanz 2002, Lakshmanan *et al.* 2003, Polish *et al.* 2005). Inhibition is achieved by binding to the promoters and recruiting the general repressor complex Ssn6-Tup1 to these promoters (Özcan and Johnston 1995, Tomas-Cobos and Sanz 2002).



Figure 5: The Snf3/Rgt2 pathway. A simplified schematic representation of the Snf3/Rgt2 pathway. On the left hand side a representation of the pathway in low glucose and high glucose conditions. Snf3 and Rgt2 recruit Mth1 and Std1 to the plasma membrane where they get phosphorylated by Tck1/2 and this leads, via ubiquitination by the SCF (Grr1) ubiquitin-protein ligase, to degradation in the proteasome. On the right hand side a scheme for in zero glucose conditions where Rgt1 forms a repressor complex with Std1 and Mth1 and recruits Tup1 and Ssn6 which represses transcription of genes such as the *HXT* genes.

5.3 Snf1 pathway

The Snf1 pathway or glucose repression pathway plays a major role in metabolic regulation, where it transduces information about energy and nutrient availability. Snf1 is activated when energy and nutrients become limited, and alters the global energy regulation in yeast cells when glucose or fructose become limiting. The function of the Snf1 pathway is to balance energy homeostasis. In its function, it regulates a broad spectrum of processes such as lipid biogenesis and gluconeogenesis (Usaite *et al.* 2009).

5.3.1 AMPK in higher Eukaryotes

Snf1 belongs to a larger group of AMP-activated kinases (AMPK) which is represented throughout the entire Eukaryotic kingdom. The only eukaryotes lacking clear AMPK orthologues are some intracellular pathogens such as *Plasmodium falciparum*, which are typically not exposed to altered nutrient availability (Ward *et al.* 2004). Like Snf1, mammalian AMPK is activated in situations where ATP production is impaired (Hardie 2015). AMPK activation restores the energy balance in a twofold process: (I) by activation of ATP production through increased activity or expression of proteins involved in catabolism. (II) Through conserving ATP by turning off non-essential pathways that consume energy. Due to its central roles in metabolism, AMPK is a plausible target for treating metabolic conditions associated with type 2 diabetes, obesity, cancer and inflammation (Hardie *et al.* 2012, Hardie 2015).

Mammalian AMPK studies have shown that the AMP/ADP/ATP ratio plays an important role in protecting AMPK against dephosphorylation on Thr172 (Xiao *et al.* 2011). While mammalian AMPK seems to be regulated by AMP, ADP may be the regulating adenylate nucleotide for Snf1 (Mayer *et al.* 2011, Xiao *et al.* 2011, Chandrashekarappa *et al.* 2013). Despite this difference it is still possible to
complement an *S. cerevisiae* strain with deletions of all five genes encoding SNF1 complex subunits with certain mammalian AMPK complexes and restore glucose repression. These mammalian complexes expressed in yeast were glucose regulated although not by the Glc7-Reg1 phosphatase complex, suggesting that the role of Glc7 as phosphatase is not conserved (Ye *et al.* 2014). It has been shown that other phosphatases can also dephosphorylate Snf1 (Ruiz *et al.* 2011, Ruiz *et al.* 2013). This suggests that dephosphorylation of SNF1/AMPK is mainly regulated by itself and in a lesser extent by glucose control of the phosphatase.

It appears that mammalian AMPK can correctly interpret the metabolic stimuli produced by yeast. Hence, AMPK is strongly conserved through evolution, consistent with its fundamental role in nutrient signalling.

5.3.2 Components of the Snf1 pathway

The central component of this pathway is the SNF1 kinase complex. The SNF1 complex is activated by glucose depletion. It is composed of three different subunits, the catalytic α -subunit Snf1, the regulatory γ -subunit Snf4 and the three alternative stabilizing β -subunits Gal83, Sip1 or Sip2 (Jiang and Carlson 1997, Schmidt and McCartney 2000). The β -subunits have several functions such as targeting the complex to different subcellular locations and stabilization of the complex. The catalytic subunit alone is not sufficient to mediate glucose derepression: both Snf4 and at least one β -subunit are required for stable Snf1 activity (Celenza *et al.* 1989, Schmidt and McCartney 2000). Fluorescence microscopy studies reveal that in high glucose conditions the subunits seem to be located in the cytosol, while upon the shift to ethanol as sole energy source, Sip1 localizes to the vacuole, Gal83 to the nucleus and Sip2 stays localized in the cytosol. Upon the shift from high glucose to ethanol as carbon and energy source, a

major proportion of Snf1 and Snf4 seems to localize together with Gal83 to the nucleus (Vincent *et al.* 2001).

Phosphorylation of Snf1 is required for its activity (McCartney and Schmidt 2001). Snf1 is constitutively phosphorylated on Thr210 by the upstream kinases (UKs) Elm1, Sak1 and Tos3 (Hong *et al.* 2003, Nath *et al.* 2003, Garcia-Salcedo *et al.* 2014). Sak1 seems to be the most important of the three UKs (Clement *et al.* 2013). Recently it has also been shown that Ser214 in Snf1 is phosphorylated by Sak1 under glucose depletion, and point mutation of this site turns Snf1 inactive. This suggests that the activity of Snf1 can be modulated in two ways (McCartney *et al.* 2016). It has been shown that the UKs also fulfil functions in other pathways. Elm1 is involved in a salt stress response both dependent and independent of Snf1 (Ye *et al.* 2008). Snf1 is dephosphorylated by the yeast PP1 phosphatase Reg1/2-Glc7 when a rapidly-fermentable sugar like glucose is available (Zhang *et al.* 2011). Additional phosphatases, Sit4 and Ptc2, have also been shown to dephosphorylate Snf1 and have been implicated in glucose regulation of the Snf1 pathway (Ruiz *et al.* 2011, Ruiz *et al.* 2013). A model of how these components interact with each other is provided and mathematically encoded in **Paper III.**



Figure 6: The Snf1/Mig1 pathway. A simplified schematic representation of the Snf1/Mig1 pathway. On the left hand side a representation of the pathway in glucose conditions. Glucose enters the cell through hexose transporters and in glycolysis a signal is generated which inhibits the SNF1 complex and results in dephosphorylation by the phosphatase complex Reg1-Glc7. This allows transcription factors such as Mig1 to bind to promoters and recruit the transcription repressor complex Tup1-Ssn6. On the right hand side in no or low glucose conditions. Snf1 is activated through phosphorylation by Sak1, Tos3 or Elm1. The active SNF1 complex phosphorylates transcription factor such as Mig1.

5.3.3 Snf1 pathway targets

Active Snf1 has a broad spectrum of downstream effects (Zhang *et al.* 2010). The transcriptional repressor Mig1 is one of the principally studied downstream targets of Snf1 (Gancedo 1998, Treitel *et al.* 1998). Mig1 is the best-studied, but not the only, downstream target phosphorylated by Snf1. An overview of Snf1 targets with known Snf1 phosphorylation site is given in Table 2. The consensus site for Snf1-mediated phosphorylation is Hyd-X-Arg-XX-Ser-XXX-Hyd (Dale *et al.* 1995).

When the SNF1 complex is active under glucose limitation, it phosphorylates Mig1 on at least four phosphorylation sites resulting in Mig1 nuclear exit (Treitel et al. 1998, DeVit and Johnston 1999). When glucose is available, Mig1 resides in the nucleus where it binds numerous promoters controlling expression of genes that encode metabolic functions. A well-studied example is the gene coding for invertase; SUC2 (Carlson et al. 1981, Lutfiyya and Johnston 1996, Klein et al. 1998). When bound on a promoter, Mig1 recruits the repressor complex Ssn6-Tup1 (Keleher et al. 1992, Treitel and Carlson 1995). It has been shown that Mig1 displays pulsatile movements in and out of the nucleus when observed at single cell level (Dalal et al. 2014, Lin et al. 2015). For Mig1, the catabolic or regulatory function of Hxk2 seems to be involved in these pulses since in an $hxk2\Delta$ mutant only an initial transient entry of Mig1 into the nucleus is observed during growth on glucose (Paper II). This suggests that the Mig1 import and export is regulated dynamically, possibly through signals derived from glucose metabolism. Since Mig1 export out of the nucleus is regulated by phosphorylation through Snf1 (DeVit and Johnston 1999). Snf1 activity may also have pulsatile character.

Cat8, Adr1 and Sip4 are transcription factors controlled by Snf1 in two ways (Vincent and Carlson 1998, Vincent and Carlson 1999, Roth *et al.* 2004). Snf1/Mig1 control the expression of the genes encoding these transcription factors and Snf1 directly controls the activity of Cat8, Adr1 and Sip4 (De Vit *et al.* 1997). Cat8 is a major contributor to cellular reprogramming during the diauxic shift

together with Adr1 and Sip4 (Vincent and Carlson 1998, Haurie *et al.* 2001, Young *et al.* 2003). Both Cat8 and Sip4 regulate genes with a carbon source-responsive element (CSRE) (Lesage *et al.* 1996, Vincent and Carlson 1998). Hcm1 is a forkhead transcription factor that activates genes involved in chromosome segregation during S-phase in the cell cycle. Hcm1 has been shown to be regulated through Snf1 during glucose limitation, suggesting that Snf1 affects cell cycle progression under those conditions (Pramila *et al.* 2006).

Apart from modulating transcription activators and repressors, Snf1 also directly targets enzymes: glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenases Gdp1 and Gdp2, which play a key role in glycerol production, are phosphorylated by Snf1 when glucose is limiting to decrease glycerol production (Lee *et al.* 2012). Snf1 also phosphorylates subunits of the SNF1 complex. Gal83 is phosphorylated by Snf1, although it is unclear how this influences the Snf1 pathway (Mangat *et al.* 2010). Snf1 further phosphorylates and thereby regulates the general stress-response transcriptional activator Msn2 (De Wever *et al.* 2005). The osmotic stress response pathway HOG has been reported to be activated by glucose limitation in a Snf1 dependent way (Piao *et al.* 2012).

Snf1 interacts directly with the RNA polymerase II holoenzyme through the Srb/mediator proteins, suggesting that Snf1 regulates RNA polymerase activity under glucose limitation (Kuchin *et al.* 2000, Young *et al.* 2012). It has been shown that histone H3 is phosphorylated and modulated by Snf1 to enhance *INO1* expression and this increases inositol synthesis (Lo *et al.* 2001, Lo *et al.* 2005). Hence Snf1 functions as a histone kinase controlling the Gcn5-dependant acetylation of histone H3 (Abate *et al.* 2012). It has also been suggested that Snf1 stimulates the decay of mRNAs (Braun *et al.* 2016). This shows that Snf1 regulates the expression of glucose-repressed genes not only through transcription factors but also through chromatin remodelling, modulation of polymerase activity and mRNA

stability. An overview of how the regulatory network of Snf1 regulates all these targets is presented in **Paper III**.

Table 2: Snf1 phosphorylation targets. An overview of known sites that are directly phosphorylated by Snf1 in response to glucose limitation.

Protei	Site	Effect of Snf1	Citations			
n	phosphorylation					
Acc1	Ser659	Deactivation	(Shi <i>et al.</i> 2014)			
	Ser1157	Deactivation	(Shi et al. 2014)			
Cat8	S553	Activation	(Charbon <i>et al.</i> 2004)			
	S803	Activation	(Charbon et al. 2004)			
Gdp1	S24	Deactivation	(Lee et al. 2012)			
Gdp2	S72	Deactivation	(Lee <i>et al.</i> 2012)			
Mig1	S222	Deactivation	(Treitel et al. 1998)			
	S278	Deactivation	(Treitel et al. 1998)			
	S 311	Deactivation	(Treitel et al. 1998)			
	S3811	Deactivation	(Treitel et al. 1998)			
Msn2	S582	Deactivation	(De Wever <i>et al.</i> 2005)			
Pfk27	S68	Degradation	(Benanti et al. 2007)			
	S144	Degradation	(Benanti et al. 2007)			
Sip4	S217	Activation	(Lesage et al. 1996)			
Rod1	S447	/	(Shinoda and Kikuchi 2007)			

5.3.4 Glucose derepression through the Snf1/Mig1 pathway is a two-step process

The mechanisms regulating the activity of the SNF1 complex activity are not entirely elucidated. It is well known that the establishment of glucose repression requires glucose uptake and phosphorylation, but no further glucose metabolism is required (Rose *et al.* 1991). The UKs do not seem to be upregulated upon glucose depletion and Snf1 seems to be constitutively phosphorylated by the UKs (Hong *et* *al.* 2005, Rubenstein *et al.* 2008). The catalytic subunit Snf1 is sufficient for glucose derepression, since strains with a Snf1 form that is unable to interact with the β and γ subunits, maintained Snf1 function. However, it could not establish glucose derepression to the same extent as the wild-type form of Snf1. In addition, in a *snf4* Δ mutant, Snf1 is still glucose regulated, although to a lesser extent than the wild-type (Ruiz *et al.* 2012). Protection of the Snf1 phosphorylation site Thr210 by the subunits is required to maintain an active form of Snf1 under glucose depletion.

Glucose repression is not established by Mig1 nuclear localization alone. Deletion of the exportin Msn5 results in constitutive nuclear Mig1 localization. However, such a strain is still capable of glucose derepression (DeVit and Johnston 1999), suggesting that Mig1 nuclear localization does not automatically result in glucose repression. It has further been observed that under low glucose conditions, a portion of Mig1 remains bound on both the *GAL1* and *SUC2* promoters (Papamichos-Chronakis *et al.* 2004). In addition, irrespective of the glucose condition, Mig1 moves in and out of the nucleus (Bendrioua *et al.* 2014). It has also been shown that Snf1 can be phosphorylated in the presence of glucose without causing glucose derepression (Ye *et al.* 2008, Garcia-Salcedo *et al.* 2014). Taken together, is seems that an additional step is required that enables active Snf1 to phosphorylate Mig1. This additional step is complex and dynamic since upon glucose addition Mig1 is initially dephosphorylated, but remained dephosphorylated only at high glycolytic rates (Elbing *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, the cellular localization of Mig1 appears to be highly correlated with the rate of glucose metabolism (**Paper I**).

It has been proposed that changes in glucose repression are linked to altered catalytic Hxk2 activity and hence metabolic flux, since relevant metabolite levels inside these cells were not changed (Ma *et al.* 1989, Rose *et al.* 1991). Interaction between Hxk2 and Mig1 has been demonstrated and it has been shown that the nuclear localization of Mig1 is dependent on Hxk2 (Moreno and Herrero 2002,

Ahuatzi et al. 2007, Vega et al. 2016). Overexpression of Glk1 in an $hxkl\Delta hxk2\Delta$ strain resulted in restoration of glucokinase activity but not glucose repression (Rose et al. 1991). Finally, mutants displaying a low catalytic Hxk2 activity could still trigger full repression (Mayordomo and Sanz 2001). To further test the direct link signalling hexokinases between Hxk2 and glucose the from Schizosaccharomyce pombe and Yarrowia lipolytica were stably expressed in an $hxk2\Delta$ strain. Both homologues could restore repression of invertase in S. cervevisiae (Rose et al. 1991, Petit et al. 2000). Additionally, overexpression of Hxk1 in an $hxk1\Delta$ $hxk2\Delta$ strain, cannot restore glucose repression to its full extent (Paper II). This suggests that Hxk2 might play a regulatory role besides its catalytic activity. Nonetheless, this role might not be specific to Hxk2 since Hxk1 could replace Hxk2 to some extent (De Winde et al. 1996, Vega et al. 2016), and heterologous hexokinases share a regulatory capability of Hxk2 in S. cerevisiae. Taken together, Hxk2 and Hxk1 both have a regulatory and catalytic function and Hxk2 is the primary hexokinase in both functions.

The ADP/ATP ratio has been suggested to control dephosphorylation of Snf1 and thereby regulate Snf1 activity on downstream targets (Mayer *et al.* 2011, Xiao *et al.* 2011, Chandrashekarappa *et al.* 2013). Phosphorylation of threonine 210 could require a distinct step mediated by the Snf4 subunit (McCartney and Schmidt 2001). It seems that the SNF1 complex activity is regulated by the steric availability of Thr210 to the Snf1 phosphatases (Rubenstein *et al.* 2008). It has been reported that ADP binds to Snf4 and this binding leads to allosteric protection from dephosphorylation of the SNF1 complex (Mayer *et al.* 2011). The SNF1 β -subunit has multiple binding sites for adenylate nucleotides. Binding of ADP to these sites results in a conformational change that protects Snf1 from dephosphorylation by phosphatases (Chandrashekarappa *et al.* 2011, Mayer *et al.* 2011, Chandrashekarappa *et al.* 2013).

Several additional mechanisms have been suggested to regulate Snf1 function. The cAMP-PKA pathway contributes to regulation of the Snf1 pathway by controlling Reg1 activity (Castermans *et al.* 2012). The function of the SNF1 complex may also be regulated by SUMOylation of Lys549 in Snf1. Regulation by SUMOylation seems to include two steps: (I) The SUMO protein attached to Snf1 interacts with a SUMO interacting region near the catalytic site of Snf1, thereby reducing Snf1 activity. (II) The SUMO protein targets Snf1 to ubiquitin-dependent degradation (Simpson-Lavy and Johnston 2013). Taken together, Snf1 degradation is regulated in a highly dynamic fashion by multiple regulatory mechanisms that are not mutually exclusive.

5.3.5 Functions of the Snf1 regulatory network in other stress responses

It is known that Snf1 plays a role in stress responses other than carbons source depletion. Under NaCl stress, alkaline pH and oxidative stress Snf1 is phosphorylated and its activity is increased (Hong and Carlson 2007). Under NaCl stress in the presence of glucose, Mig1 is not phosphorylated (Ye *et al.* 2008). Instead, Snf1 phosphorylates the Mig1 homologue Mig2 (Serra-Cardona *et al.* 2014). In addition, it has been shown that for a successful response to NaCl stress Hxk2 is not required, but instead the transcriptional repressor Nrg1 appears to be involved (Ye *et al.* 2008). This suggests that Snf1-mediated responses are regulated differently by NaCl stress than under glucose depletion. In order to accommodate these differences there should be mechanism which can distinguish between these two stresses. The observation that active Snf1 cannot phosphorylate Mig1 under NaCl stress in the presence of glucose supports the notion that there are two regulatory steps (Snf1 activation and Mig1 phosphorylation by Snf1) in glucose derepression. Snf1 has also been suggested to play a role in the response to the toxic agents like hydroxyurea, methyl-methane sulfonate, and cadmium (Dubacq *et*

al. 2004, Thorsen *et al.* 2009). Snf1 appears to play a role in tolerance against toxic cations through the Sip4 transcriptional activator. Phosphorylation on Thr210 of Snf1 does not seem to be required for this mechanism (Portillo *et al.* 2005). Recently it has been reported that the β -subunits play a role in appropriate responses to alkaline stress (Chandrashekarappa *et al.* 2016). Overall it seems that Snf1 is able to accommodate a variety of stress responses and the mechanisms by which this is achieved are not well understood.

5.3.6 Crosstalk between Snf1 pathway and other nutrient signalling pathways

The three main glucose signalling pathways; the cAMP-PKA pathway (see 5.1), the Snf3/Rgt2 pathway (see 5.2) and the Snf1 pathway (see 5.3) do not simply work in parallel. There is extensive cross-talk between the glucose signalling pathways as well as with other signalling pathways (Shashkova *et al.* 2015). Here we provide a short overview of signalling pathway cross-talk involving Snf1.

As mentioned above (see 5.1), the cAMP-PKA system controls the activity of the phosphatase subunit Reg1, which acts on Snf1 (Castermans *et al.* 2012). It has been reported that components of the cAMP-PKA pathway, Ira1, Ira2 and Bcy1, are required for Snf1 pathway activation in response to glucose limitation (Barrett *et al.* 2012). Snf1 also affects the cAMP-PKA pathway as Bcy1 is phosphorylated in a Snf1 dependent way (Braun *et al.* 2014).

Snf1 interacts with the Rgt1/Snf3 pathway at different levels. It has been shown that Std1, Mth1 and Snf3 directly interact with Snf1 (Kaniak *et al.* 2004). The expression of *MTH1* and *SNF3*, both encoding components of the glucose induction pathway, is repressed by Mig1 in cooperation with Mig2. This implies that the expression of proteins in the glucose induction pathway is partly under control of the glucose repression pathway (Kaniak *et al.* 2004). In the collaborative operation

of the Snf1/Mig1 and the Rgt1/Snf3 pathway, Mig1 is the major transcriptional repressor, while Mig2 only targets a subset of Mig1 genes and thereby appears to only adjust the repression in response to glucose signalling (Westholm *et al.* 2008). Snf1 also plays a role in preventing ubiquitination of Std1 and Mth1 (Pasula *et al.* 2007). These observations illustrate that Snf1 influences expression of the hexose transporters by interacting with the glucose induction pathway.

Snf1 also interacts with the TOR pathway. TOR is a key player in nutrient sensing and global metabolic regulation (Nandy *et al.* 2010). Gat1 and Gln3, two transcriptional activators of genes involved in nitrogen catabolite repression, are both phosphorylated in a Snf1-dependent manner following carbon starvation (Bertram *et al.* 2002, Kulkarni *et al.* 2006). Rapamycin, a compound that blocks the TOR complex, and nitrogen limitation stimulate Snf1 phosphorylation. Snf1 phosphorylation in response to rapamycin treatment and nitrogen limitation is inhibited in *sak1* strains, suggesting that the signal of nitrogen limitation requires Sak1, the Snf1 activating kinase (Orlova *et al.* 2006). Taken together, it seems that the Snf1 pathway is also controlled by nitrogen limitation and that Snf1 also controls transcription factors involved in nitrogen limitation repression.

In conclusion, the different glucose signalling pathways seem to form a larger glucose signalling network.

6. Cell-to-cell variability

Biological processes are often assumed to be deterministic. In other words, the resulting behaviour of a biological process is entirely determined by its initial state and inputs (Heldt et al. 2015). Dynamic imaging and single-cell studies have revealed the stochastic nature of biological processes. These processes are subjected to stochastic fluctuations that can give rise to cell-to-cell variability. The phenomenon of cell-to-cell variability refers to the fact that no two genetically identical cells have identical behaviour and appearance. Often this variability is referred to as cellular noise and consists of intrinsic and extrinsic noise. The intrinsic noise is attributed to the inherent probabilistic nature of intracellular biochemical reactions (Raj and van Oudenaarden 2009). Intrinsic noise increases the probabilities in all dimensions (i.e., time points) autonomous from one another. Extrinsic noise is caused by variability in cellular states and is constrained by the signalling network that generates the dynamics. Therefore, the variability in components due to extrinsic noise at different time points is deterministically dependent on each other (Selimkhanov et al. 2014). Fluctuations in cellular states generating extrinsic noise can be caused by factors such as cell size, shape and cell cycle stage (Raser and O'Shea 2004). Further, other sources of extrinsic noise in biological processes that have been described are mutations (Levy and Siegal 2008), chemicals in the cell environment (Dar et al. 2014), thermal fluctuations (Jo et al. 2005) and age (Bahar et al. 2006). Overall, many factors contribute to extrinsic noise in cellular processes.

Extrinsic and intrinsic noise leads to variability which can be experimentally observed inside single cells and leads to considerable variability between individuals. These two types of noise are hard to separate from external noise. The two former are part of the biological system, while the latter is created due to

38

experimental setup. It is challenging to distinguish between biological noise and noise caused by the experimental setup. Therefore, we should be vigilant that not all observed noise has biological significance, but can be caused by the experimental setup.

The abundance of proteins involved in responses to environmental conditions has been shown to be more variable than proteins involved in protein synthesis (Newman *et al.* 2006). Large cell-to-cell variability in nutrient signalling pathways has been reported, as for example in a single cell study of yeast cells exposed to a shift in sulphur sources the transcriptional adaptation displayed a large cell-to-cell variability (Schwabe and Bruggeman 2014). We also observed a large cell-to-cell variability in response to glucose uptake (Paper I). Evolution might have preferred intrinsic noise in certain cellular regulatory systems to modulate for the uncertainty of future events (Ben-Jacob and Schultz 2010, Eldar and Elowitz 2010). For instance, random expression patterns of signalling proteins can result in probabilistic outcomes when the cells are faced with a decision between two different cell fates (McAdams and Arkin 1997). Systems that reduce noise in biological cells exist, and are used when a precise cellular response is desired. However these systems are not used in regulatory mechanisms where stochastic outcomes might be advantageous (McAdams and Arkin 1999). This suggests that the cell could have evolved systems to keep all noise in check, but for some systems evolution has preferred not to suppress the noise, implying that noise in biological systems has been integrated and plays a role in some biological processes. Unfortunately, much of our knowledge about cellular processes is based on population level experiments (Altschuler and Wu 2010). In population level experiments, noise, which is caused by cell-to-cell variability, is often seen as a nuisance. However, the resulting cell-to-cell variability should not be disregarded as it is a relevant biological phenomenon.

Not all variability in cells could be contributed to the random noise on the level of biochemical reactions. Processes resulting in cell decisions that before have been thought to be stochastic, have been shown to be more deterministic than initially assumed (St-Pierre and Endy 2008, Robert *et al.* 2010). Therefore, it seems that not all noise can be attributed to the stochasticity of nature, but that some of the variability might be deterministic and should be treated as such (Paulsson 2004).

In conclusion, it seems that biological processes, although displaying stochasticity, are still deterministic, and that the stochasticity is used to determine probabilistic events. To further unravel the characteristics of variability and its impact on, or handling by, biological systems, requires studying processes on the single cell level.

7. Microfluidic systems

Conventional experimental methods measure the average of all individuals of a population. As discussed in the previous chapter, cells within a population show considerable heterogeneity which cannot be disregarded. Single-cell characteristics can be captured by many different experimental methods, such as flow cytometry, electrophysiology, microscopy, and single cell PCR or sequencing (Altschuler and Wu 2010). However, these techniques measure data only at one time point, therefore they do not allow a dynamic study of cellular processes. Without single cell studies, dynamic localization behaviours such as the pulsating characteristics of transcription factors Msn2 and Mig1 would not have been observed (Dalal *et al.* 2014).

Microfluidic systems have emerged as key tools to study the dynamics of processes, since it allows time lapse (fluorescence) microscopic imaging. The development of microfluidic systems has been driving the emergence of single cell analysis techniques. These microfluidic systems enable the culture of cells in controlled and constant environments (e.g. Growth media) and further offer the possibility to reliably shift between media with different composition rapidly (Eriksson et al. 2010). This makes microfluidics an excellent tool to study the effect of changing environmental conditions on biological cells (**Paper I, Paper II, Paper IV**). Even more challenging environmental changes such as light intensity can be studied using microfluidic tools (**Paper V**). Most microfluidics systems work with capillary systems in the micrometre scales (10-100 μ m) in which small volumes (nl - pl) are processed. At these scales, the physical properties of flow differ significantly from flow in larger channels. At these small dimensions, the mixing between the flows is restricted to diffusion and therefore there is a sharp concentration gradient between the flows. Other advantages are the small number

of reagents and samples, and the lower experimental costs (Whitesides 2006). A commonly used bio-compatible material for the fabrication of microfluidic systems is polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS). This polymer is very suitable for the use of studying biological systems optically, since it is chemically inert, optically transparent, permeable to gasses such as oxygen and has widely controllable mechanical characteristics (Cademartiri and Ozin 2009). Single cell analysis has a big potential, and has already moved in the other "omics" fields, such as single cell genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics (Wang and Bodovitz 2010).

8. Systems biology

Methods such as microfluidics, but also high throughput "omics" measurements produce data in large quantities allowing the identification and quantification of components in biological processes. However, it is not sufficient just to know the components of a biological system. To gain a complete oversight of the biological system we need to understand where and what the functions of the components are. A system can be described as "components that interact in such a way that they form a functional unit" (Alberghina and Westerhoff 2005). According to this definition many biological processes can be seen as a system. E.g. glycolysis is a system of enzymes working towards metabolizing carbon sources and glucose signalling is a system that works towards signalling the glucose status. Biological systems can include many processes and encloses many hierarchical levels in biology.

The components of a typical signalling pathway consist of sensors, signal transduction molecules and proteins mediating responses. For the Snf1/Mig1 pathway however, the stimulus remains unclear. This will be discussed later in chapter 9.1.

The common denominator of biological systems is that all these components interact as a functional unit. If we understand the function of the components and how they interact on a systems level in a biological system, we can reproduce the system. This reproducibility can be computationally or mathematically modelled. With the help of computational and mathematical modelling we can predict the outcome of a biological system. Systems biology thrives to understand systems in their whole, i.e. the properties that emerge from the interaction between the components of the system.

Systems biology approaches have already shown their value (Wolkenhauer 2014). An early success of mathematical modelling was a model that provided a mechanistic explanation of the propagation of action potentials in axons, based on the combined behaviours of a system of ionic channels (Hodgkin and Huxley 1952). Another example of the success of systems biology is the modelling of organs such as the heart and liver. These models can simulate diseases and predict the effect of candidate therapies on diseases (Noble 2004, Kuepfer *et al.* 2014). The temporal modelling of expected cell-to-cell variability in different tumour cell types helps in constructing drug-dosing schedules for chemotherapy (Foo and Michor 2009, Liao *et al.* 2012).

For the future, systems biology will gain more importance as a scientific field. Integrating a systems biology approach to the stochastic nature of biological processes could revolutionize medicine. As systems in which each individual patient is extensively examined by new technologies such as genomic, proteomic, single-cell analyses and high throughput phenotypic assays would generate a considerable amount of data points on each individual, powerful computational methods would reduce this vast amount of data to simple hypotheses about the health and disease of the person in question. This would allow healthcare to be personal, predictive and preventive (Hood et al. 2004, Hood and Friend 2011, Tian et al. 2012).

8.1 Mathematical modelling

Modelling is an essential tool of systems biology. Due to the complexity and size of systems we cannot predict the behaviour or dynamics of such system through human intuition alone. By modelling a biological system, we can predict or simulate the outcome of complex systems. Accordingly, simulation results should be compared with experimental measurements characterizing the dynamic behaviour of biological processes. There are several types of models available, and to model a dynamic biological process the correct mathematical model needs to be defined. Most dynamic mathematical models are continuous since they have to deal with high concentrations of molecules in a time dependent way. Ordinary differential equations (ODEs) are fundamental tools for studying the dynamics of a continuous system. ODE models recapitulate a series of biochemical reactions that take place over time, and therefore simulate response dynamics in a signalling network. Larger models are often static since they are time invariant and work at a steady state (Murray 2002). Important to note is that there is no fully correct model, a model is a simplification of reality and will therefore only be able to approximate reality. However, in combination with high quality experimental data they can be predictive and used to test hypotheses (Xia et al. 2014). Microfluidics systems can provide the high quality experimental data mathematical modelling requires (Breslauer et al. 2006).

Several modelling approaches have been published which characterize the interplay between the components of the Snf1 pathway. An overview is given in Table 3. These models show that the Snf1 pathway displays complex dynamics and influences many cellular processes in its function as global energy regulator.

The heterogeneity poses practical challenges for building accurate models. However, models could be suited for situations where biological variability, as well

46

as uncertainty in measurements, may affect data interpretation. This adds a new level of complexity to modelling. Several attempts have been made to produce models that include cell-to-cell variability. Bayesian and Monte Carlo methods have been used to recover the full probability distributions of free parameters (Eydgahi *et al.* 2013, Almquist *et al.* 2015). In our work we have used Nonlinear mixed effects (NLME) to try to understand the variability within a cell population (**paper I**). NLME modelling is a theoretical approach that provides a framework to account for cell-to-cell variability. The NMLE approach is already common practise in pharmacokinetic studies and pharmacodynamics, since this approach allows for the analysis of sparse and unbalanced datasets (Niepel *et al.* 2009, Ribba *et al.* 2014). Further, NMLE has been proposed and used to model dynamic single cell data (Zechner *et al.* 2014, Karlsson *et al.* 2015). Recently, a phenomenological model with four components describing the Snf1-Mig1 pathway using the NLME approach has been constructed (Almquist *et al.* 2015). This model could simulate the cell-to-cell variability observed in the experimental data.

Overall, the Snf1-Mig1 pathway has been subject to several modelling attempts, which have allowed a better overview and understanding of the pathway. In some cases modelling approaches have led to new insight such as the identification of new Snf1 targets (Usaite *et al.* 2009), or suggested novel regulatory mechanisms (Garcia-Salcedo *et al.* 2014), thereby validating the usage of systems approaches to biological questions.

Table 5. Over view of the modeling approaches in studies on the Shiri pathway.	Table 3:	Overview of	of the mode	lling approa	aches in stu	dies on the	e Snf1	pathway.
--	----------	-------------	-------------	--------------	--------------	-------------	--------	----------

Model purpose	Type of model	source					
Describes the crosstalk between the Snf1	Boolean model	(Christensen et					
pathways and the Snf3/Rgt2 pathway		al. 2009)					
Identification of the Snfl's global regulation	DOGMA	(Usaite et al.					
on gene and protein expression levels based	analysis based	2009)					
on global mRNA, protein and metabolite	regulatory						
levels.	network						
Larger network reconstructions based on	Boolean model	(Paper III)					
exhaustive and manually curated literature							
review							
Elucidate Snf1 pathway design and control	ODE model	(Garcia-Salcedo					
by generating 24 different networks		<i>et al.</i> 2014)					
structures and analyse their performance.							
Describes Mig1 shuttling in and out of the	ODE model	(Frey et al.					
nucleus upon changes in glucose		2011)					
concentration. This model can takes							
bleaching into account.							
Describes Mig1 shuttling in and out of the	NMLE and	(Almquist et al.					
nucleus upon changes in glucose	hidden Markov	2015)					
concentration. This model takes cell-to-cell	models						
variability into account.							

9. Summary of the appended papers

9.1 Main findings Paper I

We present a multidisciplinary approach combining single cell time-scale fluorescence microscopy in microfluidics system and mathematical modelling. We find that the Mig1 nuclear import profile is different for every single transporter strain and correlates with the known kinetic properties of the glucose transporters. This suggests that glucose metabolism controls the Snf1-Mig1 system rather than the absolute glucose concentrations. We further applied the mixed-effect modelling approach to quantify the dynamic behaviour of glucose repression at single cell level. This model allowed us to: simulate cell-to-cell variability, suggest regulatory steps and predict sources of stochasticity in the Snf1-Mig1 pathway.

9.2 Main findings Paper 2

We revisited the catabolic and regulatory function of the sugar kinase in glucose metabolism and the Snf1-Mig1 pathway. We find that Mig1 displays a short transient nuclear import upon addition of fermentable carbon sources and that this import requires phosphorylation by any of the sugar kinases. However, for prolonged Mig1 pulsatile behaviour, Hxk2 is required during growth on glucose and mannose, and Hxk1 or Hxk2 are required during growth on fructose. This suggests that Mig1 import is controlled via two different mechanisms, (i) the initial import is regulated by metabolism and (ii) continuous shuttling is regulated by Hxk2 and Hxk1. Mig1 nucleocytoplasmic shuttling is required but not essential for the establishment of glucose repression in which Hxk2 seems to play an essential role.

9.3 Main findings Paper 3

We present a workflow that enables large scale network reconstruction, validation and gap filling of signal transduction pathways. With this workflow we created a machine-readable Snf1 regulatory network which is based on a comprehensive literature review.

9.4 Main findings Paper 4

We present a method for time-resolved subcellular optical proteomics using singlecell microfluidics, fluorescence microscopy and image analysis to quantify dynamic protein copy numbers in subcellular compartments *in vivo*. Therefore, this method does not monitor relative protein movement as in traditional fluorescence microscopy, but generates a complete overview of protein abundance and subcellular localization in response to environmental perturbations. We apply this method on the Snf1-Mig1 pathway and observe only a part of the Mig1 molecules displaying nuclear import upon addition of glucose.

9.5 Main findings Paper 5

We show that the nutrient sensing pathways also transduce signals other than nutrient signals. We find the Msn2 oscillations are induced by blue light in yeast through counteraction of PKA-dependent Msn2 phosphorylation. In this mechanism H_2O_2 functions as secondary messenger of light and this process involves the oxidase Pox1, peroxiredoxin Tsa1, and thioredoxin Trx1 and Trx2. Our data identify a mechanism by which light could be sensed in all cells lacking dedicated photoreceptors.

10. Conclusion and perspectives

10.1 Glucose repression

The Snf1 regulatory network is extensive and complex. In **paper III** we have constructed a large Boolean model with many components in the Snf1 pathway. This model can serve as the lay-out for a large dynamic model of the Snf1 regulatory network and can even be extended to cover further glucose signalling pathways.

It remains up for discussion how Snf1 regulates Mig1 and other downstream targets in response to glucose depletion. A complete hypothesis on how Hxk2 would regulate the Snf1-Mig1 interaction has been suggested (Vega *et al.* 2016). However, this concept has been contested (Kriegel *et al.* 2016). According to the suggestion of Vega *et al.* and others, Hxk2 would have two roles in glucose repression; a catabolic role and regulatory role. Due to the importance of Hxk2 in glucose phosphorylation it is hard to discriminate between the catabolic role and the regulatory function. Furthermore, this proposed mechanism only explains how the step between active Snf1 and Mig1 could be regulated. In **paper II** it is confirmed that Hxk2 does play an important role in glucose repression. However, it is not completely clear how Hxk2 would connect Mig1 to Snf1. The exact regulatory role of Hxk2 in glucose signalling remains to be elucidated and might not be as specific to Hxk2 as has been suggested.

Previous modelling approaches have suggested the importance of the glycolytic flux rate in glucose signalling (Bosch *et al.* 2008). **Paper I** shows experimentally the close correlation between glucose flux and glucose signalling. The ADP/ATP ratio could be an ideal stimulus. A system where ATP/ADP/AMP turnover provides input to the regulatory machinery would allow the cell to measure intracellular flux and the energy status. Elbing *et al.* 2004, suggest that the control

of glucose metabolism is distributed over several metabolic reactions (Elbing et al. 2004). Many metabolic reactions consume or produce adenylate nucleotide derivatives. It is therefore imaginable that the control could be conveyed by adenylate nucleotides binding to components of signalling pathways. Allosteric regulation of proteins provides a rapid and highly dynamic method to control activity and is therefore suitable for systems that need stringent regulation. The consumption of NAD⁺ has been shown to mediate signalling events, thereby linking the cellular energy state to gene expression in mammalian cells (Koch-Nolte et al. 2011). Molecular mechanisms that dynamically measure the concentration of metabolites have been suggested to function as "flux sensors" and might be used by the cell to provide feedback for the regulation of metabolism (Kotte et al. 2010, Kochanowski et al. 2013). Moreover, the regulation by adenylate nucleotides of AMPK seems to be conserved in the Eukaryotic kingdom (Xiao et al. 2011, Chandrashekarappa et al. 2013). This suggests that the indicated regulation mechanism is strongly conserved, thus implying that it would be an important control mechanism in the Snf1 regulatory network. It has also been shown that the PKA pathway controls AMPK in mammalian cells, although not in a similar way as in yeast (Djouder et al. 2010).

Taken together, sensing of the status of cofactors and coenzymes could function as an ideal flux sensor. If ADP stabilized active Snf1, this would also allow the cell to measure the energy status in certain cell compartments. In this case, adenylate nucleotides binding to signalling proteins would serve as a "flux sensor" in glycolysis. Binding of metabolites to signalling proteins would be a suitable strategy for cells, since metabolites such as ATP/ADP/AMP are rapidly turned over and therefore a good marker for the energy status. It is important to keep in mind that flux is not directly connected to metabolite concentrations but more defined as a flow of, in our case, metabolites. High flux does not directly indicate high concentrations of metabolites or *vice versa*.

10.2 Cell-to-cell variability

We have observed considerable cell-to-cell variability in response to glucose uptake (**paper I**). Light stress also induced considerable cell-to-cell variability within a yeast population (**Paper V**). The variability in expression and translation of hexose transporters may cause a variability for glucose uptake within a population and consequently variability in further glucose metabolism. Such variability in glycolysis might lead to cells responding differently to nutritional changes or even lead to failure in the activation of a nutrient signalling pathway in a subpopulation. Systems to restore unbalanced dynamics in glycolysis have already been reported (van Heerden *et al.* 2014).

We have also observed pulsatile behaviour of Mig1 (**Paper II**), as others before (Dalal *et al.* 2014, Lin *et al.* 2015). It has been shown that this pulsatile behaviour of transcription factors is regulated by the cell. Regulation of pulsatile behaviour would avoid two transcription factors with the same target promoter being active at the same time, thereby increasing their efficiency (Lin *et al.* 2015). The reason why transcription factors show this pulsatile behaviour and how it is modulated is not yet understood (Dalal *et al.* 2014).

Seemingly, the cell allows certain variability in some cellular processes. In some cases, cells have modulated this variability into a part of its cellular processes and this insinuates that stochastic events might be more deterministic then initially assumed. Therefore, if we understand the stochasticity of biological processes, we would contribute to the understanding of the biological system in its whole.

10.3 What is life now really?

In 1944 Erwin Schrödinger wrote his seminal work "What is life?". This work attracted many scientists such as James Watson and Francis Crick, who later

discovered the molecular structure of DNA, to the biological sciences. The huge attraction to biology lead to a massive expansion of the biological field and a golden age for discovery in biology; such as the aforementioned molecular DNA structure (Watson and Crick 1953). Protein, DNA and RNA sequencing have also been major breakthroughs of recent times (Berg 2014), together with the discovery and characterization of restriction enzymes (Loenen *et al.* 2014) and transposable element or so called "jumping genes"(Mc 1950), which both lead to the development of recombinant DNA technology. Among other major achievements is the complete sequencing of the first eukaryotic genome, that of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Goffeau *et al.* 1996).

In his influential book Schrödinger states that most physical laws can be explained by chaos on a small scale, by the principle "order-from-disorder". He claims that, in contrast to physical laws, since molecules are stable structures, biology can be explained by an "order-from-order" principle. However, as our knowledge of the biological cell, and biological processes have increased, it has been shown that biology is not as ordered as Schrödinger suggested. This lack of order is exemplified by the Snf1 pathway throughout this thesis. The Snf1 pathway is not linear and in parallel to other signalling pathways. These glucose pathways reside within a large regulatory network and display a considerable amount of crosstalk between nutrient sensing pathways. Further, the whole regulatory process displays extensive stochasticity and turns glucose sensing into a highly chaotic network.

Fully integrating systems biology in biological research could help to understand the stochastic nature of biological processes and drive us towards a new age of discovery within biology. Perhaps we should change our perception of the biological cell from a simple order-from-order approach, towards a highly unordered and chaotic system which displays a high degree of variability between individuals. Would this view lead to a new area of biological discovery and advancement?

55

11 Acknowledgements

My PhD was a great wild roller-coaster and I have to thank many people who have been there along the ride.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor **Stefan Hohmann** for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab. Thank you for your all your wise advice, support and patience all these years! I also would like to thank my secondary supervisor **Marija Cvijovic** for being there when I needed advice and support. There is no doubt in my mind that without the continued support and counsel of my supervisors I could not have completed this process.

There are also many other people who have contributed in one way or the other to this thesis and the work during my PhD, and I would like to thank:

Sveta and Mikael, with whom I have shared many moments of my PhD-life. Thanks for all moments we shared in the lab. See you at the other side of the PhD wall.

Esteban, for the pizza you bought me in the first days in the lab and the friendship that followed.

Johannes, thanks for all the hard work with your math magic.

Past and present colleagues at Lundberg lab; The Hohmann lab: Peter, Maria, Roja, Loubna, Mattias, Matthias, Jens, Erik and Laura. The Tamas lab: Therese, Vijay, Sansan, Stefanie, Robbe and Sebastian. The Blomberg/Warringer lab: Martin, Ulrika, Anna and Karl and finally the Hermansson lab: Carolina. I also want to acknowledge all the members of the Cvijovic lab and the Goksör lab. Further, I also want to thank all the people

56

involved in the **ISOLATE project**. You have all been nice and helpful and I have appreciated having you as collogues!

I also want to express my gratitude to all administrative personal for making think work around Lundberg: **Bruno, Lars, Agneta, Gustav, Ann, Desiree** and **Helena**.

A special thanks to **Kerryn** for the language editing and **Karl** for the art work in the thesis.

All my friends who have supported me through the years!

Alla mina vänner som har stöttat mig genom alla år!

All mijn vrienden en familie die mij gesteund hebben gedurende alle jaren!

Jag skulle också vilja tacka **Marek, Mariola och Anna** för all hjälp jag har fått de senaste åren.

Graag wil ik ook mijn Mama, Rik, mijn broers: Bert, Tom en Bram, mijn schoonzussen: Mieke, Lin en Lies, en mijn neefjes en nichtjes: Lukas, Matteo, Wannes, Roan, Mila en Rosalie bedanken voor jullie hulp, steun en om altijd/meestal in mij geloofd te hebben.

Sandra, för att ha varit mitt stöd genom hela denna resa. Jag ser fram emot våra framtida äventyr. Jag älskar dig!

Finally, I would like to dedicate this work in memory of my late father.

12 References

- Abate, G., E. Bastonini, K. A. Braun, L. Verdone, E. T. Young and M. Caserta (2012). "Snf1/AMPK regulates Gcn5 occupancy, H3 acetylation and chromatin remodelling at S. cerevisiae ADY2 promoter." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1819(5): 419-427.
- Aguilera, A. and F. K. Zimmermann (1986). "Isolation and molecular analysis of the phosphoglucose isomerase structural gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Gen</u> <u>Genet</u> **202**(1): 83-89.
- Ahuatzi, D., A. Riera, R. Pelaez, P. Herrero and F. Moreno (2007). "Hxk2 regulates the phosphorylation state of Mig1 and therefore its nucleocytoplasmic distribution." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 282(7): 4485-4493.
- Alber, T. and G. Kawasaki (1982). "Nucleotide sequence of the triose phosphate isomerase gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Mol Appl Genet 1(5): 419-434.
- Alberghina, L. and H. V. Westerhoff (2005). <u>Systems biology, definitions and</u> <u>perspectives</u>. Berlin Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag.
- Alfarouk, K. O., A. K. Muddathir and M. E. Shayoub (2011). "Tumor acidity as evolutionary spite." <u>Cancers (Basel)</u> **3**(1): 408-414.
- Almquist, J., L. Bendrioua, C. B. Adiels, M. Goksor, S. Hohmann and M. Jirstrand (2015). "A Nonlinear Mixed Effects Approach for Modeling the Cell-To-Cell Variability of Mig1 Dynamics in Yeast." <u>PLoS One</u> 10(4): e0124050.
- Altschuler, S. J. and L. F. Wu (2010). "Cellular heterogeneity: do differences make a difference?" <u>Cell</u> **141**(4): 559-563.
- Arvanitidis, A. and J. J. Heinisch (1994). "Studies on the function of yeast phosphofructokinase subunits by in vitro mutagenesis." J Biol Chem **269**(12): 8911-8918.
- Bahar, R., C. H. Hartmann, K. A. Rodriguez, A. D. Denny, R. A. Busuttil, M. E. Dolle, R. B. Calder, G. B. Chisholm, B. H. Pollock, C. A. Klein and J. Vijg (2006).
 "Increased cell-to-cell variation in gene expression in ageing mouse heart." <u>Nature</u> 441(7096): 1011-1014.
- Barrett, L., M. Orlova, M. Maziarz and S. Kuchin (2012). "Protein kinase A contributes to the negative control of Snf1 protein kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eukaryot Cell</u> **11**(2): 119-128.

- Ben-Jacob, E. and D. Schultz (2010). "Bacteria determine fate by playing dice with controlled odds." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **107**(30): 13197-13198.
- Benanti, J. A., S. K. Cheung, M. C. Brady and D. P. Toczyski (2007). "A proteomic screen reveals SCFGrr1 targets that regulate the glycolytic-gluconeogenic switch." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> 9(10): 1184-1191.
- Bendrioua, L., M. Smedh, J. Almquist, M. Cvijovic, M. Jirstrand, M. Goksor, C. B. Adiels and S. Hohmann (2014). "Yeast AMP-activated protein kinase monitors glucose concentration changes and absolute glucose levels." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 289(18): 12863-12875.
- Berg, P. (2014). "Fred Sanger: A memorial tribute." <u>Proceedings of the National</u> <u>Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **111**(3): 883-884.
- Bertram, P. G., J. H. Choi, J. Carvalho, T. F. Chan, W. Ai and X. F. Zheng (2002). "Convergence of TOR-nitrogen and Snf1-glucose signaling pathways onto Gln3." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 22(4): 1246-1252.
- Blake, C. C. and D. W. Rice (1981). "Phosphoglycerate kinase." <u>Philos Trans R Soc</u> Lond B Biol Sci **293**(1063): 93-104.
- Boer, V. M., J. H. de Winde, J. T. Pronk and M. D. Piper (2003). "The genome-wide transcriptional responses of Saccharomyces cerevisiae grown on glucose in aerobic chemostat cultures limited for carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, or sulfur." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> 278(5): 3265-3274.
- Boles, E. and C. P. Hollenberg (1997). "The molecular genetics of hexose transport in yeasts." <u>FEMS Microbiol Rev</u> **21**(1): 85-111.
- Boles, E., F. Schulte, T. Miosga, K. Freidel, E. Schluter, F. K. Zimmermann, C. P. Hollenberg and J. J. Heinisch (1997). "Characterization of a glucose-repressed pyruvate kinase (Pyk2p) in Saccharomyces cerevisiae that is catalytically insensitive to fructose-1,6-bisphosphate." J Bacteriol **179**(9): 2987-2993.
- Bosch, D., M. Johansson, C. Ferndahl, C. J. Franzen, C. Larsson and L. Gustafsson (2008). "Characterization of glucose transport mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae during a nutritional upshift reveals a correlation between metabolite levels and glycolytic flux." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> 8(1): 10-25.
- Botstein, D. and G. R. Fink (2011). "Yeast: an experimental organism for 21st Century biology." <u>Genetics</u> **189**(3): 695-704.
- Boy-Marcotte, E., P. Ikonomi and M. Jacquet (1996). "SDC25, a dispensable Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factor of Saccharomyces cerevisiae differs from CDC25 by its regulation." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **7**(4): 529-539.

- Braun, K. A., K. M. Dombek and E. T. Young (2016). "Snf1-Dependent Transcription Confers Glucose-Induced Decay upon the mRNA Product." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 36(4): 628-644.
- Braun, K. A., S. Vaga, K. M. Dombek, F. Fang, S. Palmisano, R. Aebersold and E. T. Young (2014). "Phosphoproteomic analysis identifies proteins involved in transcription-coupled mRNA decay as targets of Snf1 signaling." <u>Sci Signal</u> 7(333): ra64.
- Breslauer, D. N., P. J. Lee and L. P. Lee (2006). "Microfluidics-based systems biology." <u>Mol Biosyst</u> 2(2): 97-112.
- Bricker, D. K., E. B. Taylor, J. C. Schell, T. Orsak, A. Boutron, Y. C. Chen, J. E. Cox, C. M. Cardon, J. G. Van Vranken, N. Dephoure, C. Redin, S. Boudina, S. P. Gygi, M. Brivet, C. S. Thummel and J. Rutter (2012). "A mitochondrial pyruvate carrier required for pyruvate uptake in yeast, Drosophila, and humans." <u>Science</u> 337(6090): 96-100.
- Broach, J. R. (2012). "Nutritional control of growth and development in yeast." <u>Genetics</u> **192**(1): 73-105.
- Broach, J. R. and R. J. Deschenes (1990). "The function of ras genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Adv Cancer Res</u> **54**: 79-139.
- Broek, D., T. Toda, T. Michaeli, L. Levin, C. Birchmeier, M. Zoller, S. Powers and M. Wigler (1987). "The S. cerevisiae CDC25 gene product regulates the RAS/adenylate cyclase pathway." <u>Cell</u> 48(5): 789-799.

Cademartiri, L. and G. A. Ozin (2009). Concepts of Nanochemistry, Wiley-VCH.

- Carlson, M., B. C. Osmond and D. Botstein (1981). "Mutants of yeast defective in sucrose utilization." <u>Genetics</u> **98**(1): 25-40.
- Castermans, D., I. Somers, J. Kriel, W. Louwet, S. Wera, M. Versele, V. Janssens and J. M. Thevelein (2012). "Glucose-induced posttranslational activation of protein phosphatases PP2A and PP1 in yeast." <u>Cell Res</u> **22**(6): 1058-1077.
- Celenza, J. L., F. J. Eng and M. Carlson (1989). "Molecular analysis of the SNF4 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae: evidence for physical association of the SNF4 protein with the SNF1 protein kinase." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **9**(11): 5045-5054.
- Chandrashekarappa, D. G., R. R. McCartney, A. F. O'Donnell and M. C. Schmidt (2016). "The beta subunit of yeast AMP-activated protein kinase directs substrate specificity in response to alkaline stress." <u>Cell Signal</u> **28**(12): 1881-1893.

- Chandrashekarappa, D. G., R. R. McCartney and M. C. Schmidt (2011). "Subunit and domain requirements for adenylate-mediated protection of Snf1 kinase activation loop from dephosphorylation." J Biol Chem 286(52): 44532-44541.
- Chandrashekarappa, D. G., R. R. McCartney and M. C. Schmidt (2013). "Ligand binding to the AMP-activated protein kinase active site mediates protection of the activation loop from dephosphorylation." J Biol Chem **288**(1): 89-98.
- Charbon, G., K. D. Breunig, R. Wattiez, J. Vandenhaute and I. Noel-Georis (2004). "Key role of Ser562/661 in Snf1-dependent regulation of Cat8p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Kluyveromyces lactis." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(10): 4083-4091.
- Christensen, T. S., A. P. Oliveira and J. Nielsen (2009). "Reconstruction and logical modeling of glucose repression signaling pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>BMC Syst Biol</u> **3**: 7.
- Clement, S. T., G. Dixit and H. G. Dohlman (2013). "Regulation of yeast G protein signaling by the kinases that activate the AMPK homolog Snf1." <u>Sci Signal</u> **6**(291): ra78.
- Coleman, R. A., Z. Liu, X. Darzacq, R. Tjian, R. H. Singer and T. Lionnet (2015). "Imaging Transcription: Past, Present, and Future." <u>Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant</u> <u>Biol</u> **80**: 1-8.
- Colombo, S., P. Ma, L. Cauwenberg, J. Winderickx, M. Crauwels, A. Teunissen, D. Nauwelaers, J. H. de Winde, M. F. Gorwa, D. Colavizza and J. M. Thevelein (1998). "Involvement of distinct G-proteins, Gpa2 and Ras, in glucose- and intracellular acidification-induced cAMP signalling in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Embo j</u> 17(12): 3326-3341.
- Colombo, S., D. Ronchetti, J. M. Thevelein, J. Winderickx and E. Martegani (2004). "Activation state of the Ras2 protein and glucose-induced signaling in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Biol Chem **279**(45): 46715-46722.
- Conrad, M., J. Schothorst, H. N. Kankipati, G. Van Zeebroeck, M. Rubio-Texeira and J. M. Thevelein (2014). "Nutrient sensing and signaling in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEMS Microbiol Rev</u> **38**(2): 254-299.
- Cooper, C. E., P. Nicholls and J. A. Freedman (1991). "Cytochrome c oxidase: structure, function, and membrane topology of the polypeptide subunits." <u>Biochem</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **69**(9): 586-607.
- Dalal, C. K., L. Cai, Y. Lin, K. Rahbar and M. B. Elowitz (2014). "Pulsatile dynamics in the yeast proteome." <u>Curr Biol</u> 24(18): 2189-2194.

- Dale, S., W. A. Wilson, A. M. Edelman and D. G. Hardie (1995). "Similar substrate recognition motifs for mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase, higher plant HMG-CoA reductase kinase-A, yeast SNF1, and mammalian calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **361**(2-3): 191-195.
- Dar, R. D., N. N. Hosmane, M. R. Arkin, R. F. Siliciano and L. S. Weinberger (2014).
 "Screening for noise in gene expression identifies drug synergies." <u>Science</u> 344(6190): 1392-1396.
- De Wever, V., W. Reiter, A. Ballarini, G. Ammerer and C. Brocard (2005). "A dual role for PP1 in shaping the Msn2-dependent transcriptional response to glucose starvation." <u>The EMBO journal</u> **24**(23): 4115-4123.
- De Winde, J. H., M. Crauwels, S. Hohmann, J. M. Thevelein and J. Winderickx (1996). "Differential requirement of the yeast sugar kinases for sugar sensing in establishing the catabolite-repressed state." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **241**(2): 633-643.
- De Vit, M. J., J. A. Waddle and M. Johnston (1997). "Regulated nuclear translocation of the Mig1 glucose repressor." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **8**(8): 1603-1618.
- DeVit, M. J. and M. Johnston (1999). "The nuclear exportin Msn5 is required for nuclear export of the Mig1 glucose repressor of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Curr</u> <u>Biol</u> **9**(21): 1231-1241.
- Diderich, J. A., J. M. Schuurmans, M. C. Van Gaalen, A. L. Kruckeberg and K. Van Dam (2001). "Functional analysis of the hexose transporter homologue HXT5 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Yeast</u> 18(16): 1515-1524.
- Djouder, N., R. D. Tuerk, M. Suter, P. Salvioni, R. F. Thali, R. Scholz, K.
 Vaahtomeri, Y. Auchli, H. Rechsteiner, R. A. Brunisholz, B. Viollet, T. P. Makela, T. Wallimann, D. Neumann and W. Krek (2010). "PKA phosphorylates and inactivates AMPKalpha to promote efficient lipolysis." <u>Embo j</u> 29(2): 469-481.
- Dmochowska, A., D. Dignard, R. Maleszka and D. Y. Thomas (1990). "Structure and transcriptional control of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae POX1 gene encoding acyl-coenzyme A oxidase." <u>Gene</u> **88**(2): 247-252.
- Drewke, C., J. Thielen and M. Ciriacy (1990). "Ethanol formation in adh0 mutants reveals the existence of a novel acetaldehyde-reducing activity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Bacteriol **172**(7): 3909-3917.
- Dubacq, C., A. Chevalier and C. Mann (2004). "The protein kinase Snf1 is required for tolerance to the ribonucleotide reductase inhibitor hydroxyurea." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 24(6): 2560-2572.
- Elbing, K., C. Larsson, R. M. Bill, E. Albers, J. L. Snoep, E. Boles, S. Hohmann and L. Gustafsson (2004). "Role of hexose transport in control of glycolytic flux in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Appl Environ Microbiol</u> **70**(9): 5323-5330.
- Elbing, K., A. Stahlberg, S. Hohmann and L. Gustafsson (2004). "Transcriptional responses to glucose at different glycolytic rates in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eur</u> <u>J Biochem</u> **271**(23-24): 4855-4864.
- Eldar, A. and M. B. Elowitz (2010). "Functional roles for noise in genetic circuits." <u>Nature</u> **467**(7312): 167-173.
- Eriksson, E., K. Sott, F. Lundqvist, M. Sveningsson, J. Scrimgeour, D. Hanstorp, M. Goksor and A. Graneli (2010). "A microfluidic device for reversible environmental changes around single cells using optical tweezers for cell selection and positioning." <u>Lab Chip</u> 10(5): 617-625.
- Eydgahi, H., W. W. Chen, J. L. Muhlich, D. Vitkup, J. N. Tsitsiklis and P. K. Sorger (2013). "Properties of cell death models calibrated and compared using Bayesian approaches." <u>Mol Syst Biol</u> **9**: 644.
- Flick, K. M., N. Spielewoy, T. I. Kalashnikova, M. Guaderrama, Q. Zhu, H. C. Chang and C. Wittenberg (2003). "Grr1-dependent inactivation of Mth1 mediates glucoseinduced dissociation of Rgt1 from HXT gene promoters." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> 14(8): 3230-3241.
- Foo, J. and F. Michor (2009). "Evolution of resistance to targeted anti-cancer therapies during continuous and pulsed administration strategies." <u>PLoS Comput</u> <u>Biol</u> **5**(11): e1000557.
- Frey, S., K. Sott, M. Smedh, T. Millat, P. Dahl, O. Wolkenhauer and M. Goksor (2011). "A mathematical analysis of nuclear intensity dynamics for Mig1-GFP under consideration of bleaching effects and background noise in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Biosyst</u> 7(1): 215-223.
- Galdieri, L., S. Mehrotra, S. Yu and A. Vancura (2010). "Transcriptional regulation in yeast during diauxic shift and stationary phase." <u>Omics</u> **14**(6): 629-638.
- Gancedo, J. M. (1998). "Yeast carbon catabolite repression." <u>Microbiology and</u> <u>molecular biology reviews : MMBR</u> **62**(2): 334-361.
- Ganzhorn, A. J., D. W. Green, A. D. Hershey, R. M. Gould and B. V. Plapp (1987). "Kinetic characterization of yeast alcohol dehydrogenases. Amino acid residue 294 and substrate specificity." J Biol Chem 262(8): 3754-3761.
- Garcia-Salcedo, R., T. Lubitz, G. Beltran, K. Elbing, Y. Tian, S. Frey, O. Wolkenhauer, M. Krantz, E. Klipp and S. Hohmann (2014). "Glucose de-repression

by yeast AMP-activated protein kinase SNF1 is controlled via at least two independent steps." <u>Febs j</u> **281**(7): 1901-1917.

- Gatenby, R. A. and R. J. Gillies (2004). "Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis?" <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **4**(11): 891-899.
- Ghaemmaghami, S., W. K. Huh, K. Bower, R. W. Howson, A. Belle, N. Dephoure, E. K. O'Shea and J. S. Weissman (2003). "Global analysis of protein expression in yeast." <u>Nature</u> 425(6959): 737-741.
- Goffeau, A., B. G. Barrell, H. Bussey, R. W. Davis, B. Dujon, H. Feldmann, F. Galibert, J. D. Hoheisel, C. Jacq, M. Johnston, E. J. Louis, H. W. Mewes, Y. Murakami, P. Philippsen, H. Tettelin and S. G. Oliver (1996). "Life with 6000 genes." <u>Science</u> 274(5287): 546, 563-547.
- Gracy, R. W. and E. A. Noltmann (1968). "Studies on phosphomannose isomerase. I. Isolation, homogeneity measurements, and determination of some physical properties." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 243(11): 3161-3168.
- Hardie, D. G. (2015). "AMPK: positive and negative regulation, and its role in wholebody energy homeostasis." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **33**: 1-7.
- Hardie, D. G., F. A. Ross and S. A. Hawley (2012). "AMPK: a nutrient and energy sensor that maintains energy homeostasis." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **13**(4): 251-262.
- Haurie, V., M. Perrot, T. Mini, P. Jeno, F. Sagliocco and H. Boucherie (2001). "The transcriptional activator Cat8p provides a major contribution to the reprogramming of carbon metabolism during the diauxic shift in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> 276(1): 76-85.
- Heinisch, J. (1986). "Isolation and characterization of the two structural genes coding for phosphofructokinase in yeast." <u>Mol Gen Genet</u> **202**(1): 75-82.
- Heinisch, J. J., S. Muller, E. Schluter, J. Jacoby and R. Rodicio (1998). "Investigation of two yeast genes encoding putative isoenzymes of phosphoglycerate mutase." <u>Yeast</u> 14(3): 203-213.
- Heldt, F. S., S. Y. Kupke, S. Dorl, U. Reichl and T. Frensing (2015). "Single-cell analysis and stochastic modelling unveil large cell-to-cell variability in influenza A virus infection." <u>Nat Commun</u> **6**: 8938.
- Hitzeman, R. A., L. Clarke and J. Carbon (1980). "Isolation and characterization of the yeast 3-phosphoglycerokinase gene (PGK) by an immunological screening technique." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 255(24): 12073-12080.
- Hockberger, P. E., T. A. Skimina, V. E. Centonze, C. Lavin, S. Chu, S. Dadras, J. K. Reddy and J. G. White (1999). "Activation of flavin-containing oxidases underlies

light-induced production of H2O2 in mammalian cells." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(11): 6255-6260.

- Hodgkin, A. L. and A. F. Huxley (1952). "A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve." J Physiol **117**(4): 500-544.
- Hohmann, S. (1991). "Characterization of PDC6, a third structural gene for pyruvate decarboxylase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Bacteriol **173**(24): 7963-7969.
- Hohmann, S. (2002). "Osmotic stress signaling and osmoadaptation in yeasts." <u>Microbiol Mol Biol Rev</u> **66**(2): 300-372.
- Hohmann, S. (2016). "Nobel Yeast Research." FEMS Yeast Res.
- Hohmann, S. and H. Cederberg (1990). "Autoregulation may control the expression of yeast pyruvate decarboxylase structural genes PDC1 and PDC5." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> 188(3): 615-621.
- Hong, S. P. and M. Carlson (2007). "Regulation of snf1 protein kinase in response to environmental stress." J Biol Chem 282(23): 16838-16845.
- Hong, S. P., F. C. Leiper, A. Woods, D. Carling and M. Carlson (2003). "Activation of yeast Snf1 and mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase by upstream kinases." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> 100(15): 8839-8843.
- Hong, S. P., M. Momcilovic and M. Carlson (2005). "Function of mammalian LKB1 and Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase alpha as Snf1-activating kinases in yeast." J Biol Chem 280(23): 21804-21809.
- Horak, J. (2013). "Regulations of sugar transporters: insights from yeast." <u>Curr Genet</u> **59**(1-2): 1-31.
- Huberts, D. H., B. Niebel and M. Heinemann (2012). "A flux-sensing mechanism could regulate the switch between respiration and fermentation." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> 12(2): 118-128.
- Huh, W. K., J. V. Falvo, L. C. Gerke, A. S. Carroll, R. W. Howson, J. S. Weissman and E. K. O'Shea (2003). "Global analysis of protein localization in budding yeast." <u>Nature</u> 425(6959): 686-691.
- Jiang, R. and M. Carlson (1997). "The Snf1 protein kinase and its activating subunit, Snf4, interact with distinct domains of the Sip1/Sip2/Gal83 component in the kinase complex." <u>Molecular and cellular biology</u> 17(4): 2099-2106.

- Jo, J., H. Kang, M. Y. Choi and D. S. Koh (2005). "How noise and coupling induce bursting action potentials in pancreatic {beta}-cells." <u>Biophys J</u> **89**(3): 1534-1542.
- Kaniak, A., Z. Xue, D. Macool, J. H. Kim and M. Johnston (2004). "Regulatory network connecting two glucose signal transduction pathways in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eukaryotic cell</u> **3**(1): 221-231.
- Karlsson, M., D. L. Janzen, L. Durrieu, A. Colman-Lerner, M. C. Kjellsson and G. Cedersund (2015). "Nonlinear mixed-effects modelling for single cell estimation: when, why, and how to use it." <u>BMC Syst Biol</u> **9**: 52.
- Kataoka, T., D. Broek and M. Wigler (1985). "DNA sequence and characterization of the S. cerevisiae gene encoding adenylate cyclase." <u>Cell</u> **43**(2 Pt 1): 493-505.
- Keleher, C. A., M. J. Redd, J. Schultz, M. Carlson and A. D. Johnson (1992). "Ssn6-Tup1 is a general repressor of transcription in yeast." <u>Cell</u> **68**(4): 709-719.
- Khurana, V. and S. Lindquist (2010). "Modelling neurodegeneration in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: why cook with baker's yeast?" <u>Nat Rev Neurosci</u> 11(6): 436-449.
- Kim, J. H., V. Brachet, H. Moriya and M. Johnston (2006). "Integration of transcriptional and posttranslational regulation in a glucose signal transduction pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eukaryotic cell</u> 5(1): 167-173.
- Klein, C. J., L. Olsson and J. Nielsen (1998). "Glucose control in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: the role of Mig1 in metabolic functions." <u>Microbiology</u> **144** (**Pt 1**): 13-24.
- Koch-Nolte, F., S. Fischer, F. Haag and M. Ziegler (2011). "Compartmentation of NAD+-dependent signalling." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **585**(11): 1651-1656.
- Kochanowski, K., B. Volkmer, L. Gerosa, B. R. Haverkorn van Rijsewijk, A. Schmidt and M. Heinemann (2013). "Functioning of a metabolic flux sensor in Escherichia coli." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **110**(3): 1130-1135.
- Kotte, O., J. B. Zaugg and M. Heinemann (2010). "Bacterial adaptation through distributed sensing of metabolic fluxes." <u>Mol Syst Biol</u> **6**: 355.
- Krampe, S., O. Stamm, C. P. Hollenberg and E. Boles (1998). "Catabolite inactivation of the high-affinity hexose transporters Hxt6 and Hxt7 of Saccharomyces cerevisiae occurs in the vacuole after internalization by endocytosis." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **441**(3): 343-347.
- Kriegel, T. M., K. Kettner, G. Rodel and N. Strater (2016). "Regulatory Function of Hexokinase 2 in Glucose Signaling in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 291(32): 16477.

- Kruckeberg, A. L. (1996). "The hexose transporter family of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Arch Microbiol</u> **166**(5): 283-292.
- Kuchin, S., I. Treich and M. Carlson (2000). "A regulatory shortcut between the Snf1 protein kinase and RNA polymerase II holoenzyme." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 97(14): 7916-7920.
- Kuepfer, L., R. Kerb and A. M. Henney (2014). "Clinical translation in the virtual liver network." <u>CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol</u> **3**: e127.
- Kulkarni, A., T. D. Buford, R. Rai and T. G. Cooper (2006). "Differing responses of Gat1 and Gln3 phosphorylation and localization to rapamycin and methionine sulfoximine treatment in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> **6**(2): 218-229.
- Lakshmanan, J., A. L. Mosley and S. Ozcan (2003). "Repression of transcription by Rgt1 in the absence of glucose requires Std1 and Mth1." <u>Curr Genet</u> **44**(1): 19-25.
- Lee, Y. J., G. R. Jeschke, F. M. Roelants, J. Thorner and B. E. Turk (2012). "Reciprocal phosphorylation of yeast glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenases in adaptation to distinct types of stress." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **32**(22): 4705-4717.
- Lesage, P., X. Yang and M. Carlson (1996). "Yeast SNF1 protein kinase interacts with SIP4, a C6 zinc cluster transcriptional activator: a new role for SNF1 in the glucose response." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **16**(5): 1921-1928.
- Levy, S. F. and M. L. Siegal (2008). "Network hubs buffer environmental variation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>PLoS Biol</u> **6**(11): e264.
- Liao, D., L. Estevez-Salmeron and T. D. Tlsty (2012). "Conceptualizing a tool to optimize therapy based on dynamic heterogeneity." <u>Phys Biol</u> **9**(6): 065005.
- Lin, Y., C. H. Sohn, C. K. Dalal, L. Cai and M. B. Elowitz (2015). "Combinatorial gene regulation by modulation of relative pulse timing." <u>Nature</u> **527**(7576): 54-58.
- Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar and S. L. Berger (2001). "Snf1--a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription." <u>Science</u> **293**(5532): 1142-1146.
- Lo, W. S., E. R. Gamache, K. W. Henry, D. Yang, L. Pillus and S. L. Berger (2005).
 "Histone H3 phosphorylation can promote TBP recruitment through distinct promoter-specific mechanisms." <u>The EMBO journal</u> 24(5): 997-1008.
- Lobo, Z. and P. K. Maitra (1977). "Genetics of yeast hexokinase." <u>Genetics</u> **86**(4): 727-744.

- Lodish, H., A. Berk, C. A. Kaiser, M. Krieger, M. P. Scott, A. Bretscher and H. Ploegh (2008). <u>Molecular cell biology</u>. New York, W. H. Freeman and company.
- Loenen, W. A., D. T. Dryden, E. A. Raleigh, G. G. Wilson and N. E. Murray (2014). "Highlights of the DNA cutters: a short history of the restriction enzymes." <u>Nucleic</u> <u>Acids Res</u> **42**(1): 3-19.
- Lolis, E., T. Alber, R. C. Davenport, D. Rose, F. C. Hartman and G. A. Petsko (1990).
 "Structure of yeast triosephosphate isomerase at 1.9-A resolution." <u>Biochemistry</u> 29(28): 6609-6618.
- Lowe, S. L. and F. J. Reithel (1975). "The subunit structure of phosphoglucose isomerase from bakers' yeast." J Biol Chem **250**(1): 94-99.
- Lutfiyya, L. L. and M. Johnston (1996). "Two zinc-finger-containing repressors are responsible for glucose repression of SUC2 expression." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **16**(9): 4790-4797.
- Ma, H., L. M. Bloom, C. T. Walsh and D. Botstein (1989). "The residual enzymatic phosphorylation activity of hexokinase II mutants is correlated with glucose repression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **9**(12): 5643-5649.
- Maier, A., B. Volker, E. Boles and G. F. Fuhrmann (2002). "Characterisation of glucose transport in Saccharomyces cerevisiae with plasma membrane vesicles (countertransport) and intact cells (initial uptake) with single Hxt1, Hxt2, Hxt3, Hxt4, Hxt6, Hxt7 or Gal2 transporters." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> 2(4): 539-550.
- Maitra, P. K. and Z. Lobo (1983). "Genetics of yeast glucokinase." <u>Genetics</u> **105**(3): 501-515.
- Mangat, S., D. Chandrashekarappa, R. R. McCartney, K. Elbing and M. C. Schmidt (2010). "Differential roles of the glycogen-binding domains of beta subunits in regulation of the Snf1 kinase complex." <u>Eukaryot Cell</u> **9**(1): 173-183.
- Marger, M. D. and M. H. Saier, Jr. (1993). "A major superfamily of transmembrane facilitators that catalyse uniport, symport and antiport." <u>Trends Biochem Sci</u> **18**(1): 13-20.
- Mayer, F. V., R. Heath, E. Underwood, M. J. Sanders, D. Carmena, R. R. McCartney, F. C. Leiper, B. Xiao, C. Jing, P. A. Walker, L. F. Haire, R. Ogrodowicz, S. R. Martin, M. C. Schmidt, S. J. Gamblin and D. Carling (2011). "ADP regulates SNF1, the Saccharomyces cerevisiae homolog of AMP-activated protein kinase." <u>Cell Metab</u> 14(5): 707-714.
- Mayordomo, I. and P. Sanz (2001). "Hexokinase PII: structural analysis and glucose signalling in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Yeast</u> **18**(10): 923-930.

- Mc, C. B. (1950). "The origin and behavior of mutable loci in maize." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u> <u>Sci U S A 36(6)</u>: 344-355.
- McAdams, H. H. and A. Arkin (1997). "Stochastic mechanisms in gene expression." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **94**(3): 814-819.
- McAdams, H. H. and A. Arkin (1999). "It's a noisy business! Genetic regulation at the nanomolar scale." <u>Trends Genet</u> **15**(2): 65-69.
- McAlister, L. and M. J. Holland (1982). "Targeted deletion of a yeast enolase structural gene. Identification and isolation of yeast enolase isozymes." J Biol <u>Chem</u> **257**(12): 7181-7188.
- McAlister, L. and M. J. Holland (1985). "Differential expression of the three yeast glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase genes." J Biol Chem 260(28): 15019-15027.
- McCartney, R. R., L. Garnar-Wortzel, D. G. Chandrashekarappa and M. C. Schmidt (2016). "Activation and inhibition of Snf1 kinase activity by phosphorylation within the activation loop." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1864**(11): 1518-1528.
- McCartney, R. R. and M. C. Schmidt (2001). "Regulation of Snf1 kinase. Activation requires phosphorylation of threonine 210 by an upstream kinase as well as a distinct step mediated by the Snf4 subunit." <u>The Journal of biological chemistry</u> 276(39): 36460-36466.
- Miller-Fleming, L., F. Giorgini and T. F. Outeiro (2008). "Yeast as a model for studying human neurodegenerative disorders." <u>Biotechnol J</u> **3**(3): 325-338.
- Moreno, F. and P. Herrero (2002). "The hexokinase 2-dependent glucose signal transduction pathway of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEMS Microbiol Rev</u> **26**(1): 83-90.
- Moriya, H. and M. Johnston (2004). "Glucose sensing and signaling in Saccharomyces cerevisiae through the Rgt2 glucose sensor and casein kinase I." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(6): 1572-1577.
- Mosley, A. L., J. Lakshmanan, B. K. Aryal and S. Ozcan (2003). "Glucose-mediated phosphorylation converts the transcription factor Rgt1 from a repressor to an activator." J Biol Chem **278**(12): 10322-10327.
- Murray, J. D. (2002). Mathematical biology: 1, An introduction. New York, Springer.
- Nakafuku, M., T. Obara, K. Kaibuchi, I. Miyajima, A. Miyajima, H. Itoh, S. Nakamura, K. Arai, K. Matsumoto and Y. Kaziro (1988). "Isolation of a second yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae gene (GPA2) coding for guanine nucleotide-

binding regulatory protein: studies on its structure and possible functions." <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **85**(5): 1374-1378.

- Nandy, S. K., P. Jouhten and J. Nielsen (2010). "Reconstruction of the yeast proteinprotein interaction network involved in nutrient sensing and global metabolic regulation." <u>BMC Syst Biol</u> **4**: 68.
- Nath, N., R. R. McCartney and M. C. Schmidt (2003). "Yeast Pak1 kinase associates with and activates Snf1." <u>Molecular and cellular biology</u> **23**(11): 3909-3917.
- Newman, J. R., S. Ghaemmaghami, J. Ihmels, D. K. Breslow, M. Noble, J. L. DeRisi and J. S. Weissman (2006). "Single-cell proteomic analysis of S. cerevisiae reveals the architecture of biological noise." <u>Nature</u> **441**(7095): 840-846.
- Niepel, M., S. L. Spencer and P. K. Sorger (2009). "Non-genetic cell-to-cell variability and the consequences for pharmacology." <u>Curr Opin Chem Biol</u> **13**(5-6): 556-561.
- Nikawa, J., P. Sass and M. Wigler (1987). "Cloning and characterization of the lowaffinity cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **7**(10): 3629-3636.
- Noble, D. (2004). "Modeling the heart." Physiology (Bethesda) 19: 191-197.
- Nourani, A., M. Wesolowski-Louvel, T. Delaveau, C. Jacq and A. Delahodde (1997). "Multiple-drug-resistance phenomenon in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae: involvement of two hexose transporters." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **17**(9): 5453-5460.
- Orlova, M., E. Kanter, D. Krakovich and S. Kuchin (2006). "Nitrogen availability and TOR regulate the Snf1 protein kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eukaryot Cell</u> **5**(11): 1831-1837.
- Palomino, A., P. Herrero and F. Moreno (2006). "Tpk3 and Snf1 protein kinases regulate Rgt1 association with Saccharomyces cerevisiae HXK2 promoter." <u>Nucleic acids research</u> **34**(5): 1427-1438.
- Papamichos-Chronakis, M., T. Gligoris and D. Tzamarias (2004). "The Snf1 kinase controls glucose repression in yeast by modulating interactions between the Mig1 repressor and the Cyc8-Tup1 co-repressor." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **5**(4): 368-372.
- Pasula, S., D. Jouandot, 2nd and J. H. Kim (2007). "Biochemical evidence for glucose-independent induction of HXT expression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEBS letters</u> 581(17): 3230-3234.
- Paulsson, J. (2004). "Summing up the noise in gene networks." <u>Nature</u> **427**(6973): 415-418.

- Peskin, A. V., N. Dickerhof, R. A. Poynton, L. N. Paton, P. E. Pace, M. B. Hampton and C. C. Winterbourn (2013). "Hyperoxidation of peroxiredoxins 2 and 3: rate constants for the reactions of the sulfenic acid of the peroxidatic cysteine." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> 288(20): 14170-14177.
- Petit, T., J. A. Diderich, A. L. Kruckeberg, C. Gancedo and K. Van Dam (2000).
 "Hexokinase regulates kinetics of glucose transport and expression of genes encoding hexose transporters in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>J Bacteriol</u> 182(23): 6815-6818.
- Pfeiffer, T. and A. Morley (2014). "An evolutionary perspective on the Crabtree effect." <u>Front Mol Biosci</u> 1: 17.
- Piao, H., J. MacLean Freed and P. Mayinger (2012). "Metabolic activation of the HOG MAP kinase pathway by Snf1/AMPK regulates lipid signaling at the Golgi." <u>Traffic</u> 13(11): 1522-1531.
- Polish, J. A., J. H. Kim and M. Johnston (2005). "How the Rgt1 transcription factor of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is regulated by glucose." <u>Genetics</u> **169**(2): 583-594.
- Portillo, F., J. M. Mulet and R. Serrano (2005). "A role for the non-phosphorylated form of yeast Snf1: tolerance to toxic cations and activation of potassium transport." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **579**(2): 512-516.
- Pramila, T., W. Wu, S. Miles, W. S. Noble and L. L. Breeden (2006). "The Forkhead transcription factor Hcm1 regulates chromosome segregation genes and fills the S-phase gap in the transcriptional circuitry of the cell cycle." <u>Genes Dev</u> **20**(16): 2266-2278.
- Pronk, J. T., H. Yde Steensma and J. P. Van Dijken (1996). "Pyruvate metabolism in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Yeast</u> **12**(16): 1607-1633.
- Raj, A. and A. van Oudenaarden (2009). "Single-molecule approaches to stochastic gene expression." <u>Annu Rev Biophys</u> **38**: 255-270.
- Raser, J. M. and E. K. O'Shea (2004). "Control of stochasticity in eukaryotic gene expression." <u>Science</u> **304**(5678): 1811-1814.
- Reddi, A. R. and V. C. Culotta (2013). "SOD1 integrates signals from oxygen and glucose to repress respiration." <u>Cell</u> **152**(1-2): 224-235.
- Reifenberger, E., E. Boles and M. Ciriacy (1997). "Kinetic characterization of individual hexose transporters of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and their relation to the triggering mechanisms of glucose repression." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> 245(2): 324-333.
- Ribba, B., N. H. Holford, P. Magni, I. Troconiz, I. Gueorguieva, P. Girard, C. Sarr, M. Elishmereni, C. Kloft and L. E. Friberg (2014). "A review of mixed-effects

models of tumor growth and effects of anticancer drug treatment used in population analysis." <u>CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol</u> **3**: e113.

- Robert, L., G. Paul, Y. Chen, F. Taddei, D. Baigl and A. B. Lindner (2010). "Predispositions and epigenetic inheritance in the Escherichia coli lactose operon bistable switch." <u>Mol Syst Biol</u> **6**: 357.
- Rodkaer, S. V. and N. J. Faergeman (2014). "Glucose- and nitrogen sensing and regulatory mechanisms in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> **14**(5): 683-696.
- Rolland, F., J. H. De Winde, K. Lemaire, E. Boles, J. M. Thevelein and J. Winderickx (2000). "Glucose-induced cAMP signalling in yeast requires both a G-protein coupled receptor system for extracellular glucose detection and a separable hexose kinase-dependent sensing process." <u>Mol Microbiol</u> **38**(2): 348-358.
- Ros, S. and A. Schulze (2013). "Balancing glycolytic flux: the role of 6phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose 2,6-bisphosphatases in cancer metabolism." <u>Cancer Metab</u> **1**(1): 8.
- Rose, M., W. Albig and K. D. Entian (1991). "Glucose repression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is directly associated with hexose phosphorylation by hexokinases PI and PII." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **199**(3): 511-518.
- Roth, S., J. Kumme and H. J. Schuller (2004). "Transcriptional activators Cat8 and Sip4 discriminate between sequence variants of the carbon source-responsive promoter element in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Current genetics</u> **45**(3): 121-128.
- Roy, A., Y. B. Kim, K. H. Cho and J. H. Kim (2014). "Glucose starvation-induced turnover of the yeast glucose transporter Hxt1." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1840**(9): 2878-2885.
- Rubenstein, E. M., R. R. McCartney, C. Zhang, K. M. Shokat, M. K. Shirra, K. M. Arndt and M. C. Schmidt (2008). "Access denied: Snf1 activation loop phosphorylation is controlled by availability of the phosphorylated threonine 210 to the PP1 phosphatase." J Biol Chem 283(1): 222-230.
- Ruiz, A., Y. Liu, X. Xu and M. Carlson (2012). "Heterotrimer-independent regulation of activation-loop phosphorylation of Snf1 protein kinase involves two protein phosphatases." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 109(22): 8652-8657.
- Ruiz, A., X. Xu and M. Carlson (2011). "Roles of two protein phosphatases, Reg1-Glc7 and Sit4, and glycogen synthesis in regulation of SNF1 protein kinase." <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **108**(16): 6349-6354.

- Ruiz, A., X. Xu and M. Carlson (2013). "Ptc1 Protein Phosphatase 2C Contributes to Glucose Regulation of SNF1/AMP-activated Protein Kinase (AMPK) in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Biol Chem.
- Sanz, P., A. Nieto and J. A. Prieto (1996). "Glucose repression may involve processes with different sugar kinase requirements." <u>J Bacteriol</u> **178**(15): 4721-4723.
- Sass, P., J. Field, J. Nikawa, T. Toda and M. Wigler (1986). "Cloning and characterization of the high-affinity cAMP phosphodiesterase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **83**(24): 9303-9307.
- Schmidt, M. C. and R. R. McCartney (2000). "beta-subunits of Snf1 kinase are required for kinase function and substrate definition." <u>EMBO J</u> **19**(18): 4936-4943.
- Schmitt, A. P. and K. McEntee (1996). "Msn2p, a zinc finger DNA-binding protein, is the transcriptional activator of the multistress response in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **93**(12): 5777-5782.
- Schmitt, H. D. and F. K. Zimmermann (1982). "Genetic analysis of the pyruvate decarboxylase reaction in yeast glycolysis." <u>J Bacteriol</u> **151**(3): 1146-1152.
- Schwabe, A. and F. J. Bruggeman (2014). "Single yeast cells vary in transcription activity not in delay time after a metabolic shift." <u>Nat Commun</u> **5**: 4798.
- Schwelberger, H. G., S. D. Kohlwein and F. Paltauf (1989). "Molecular cloning, primary structure and disruption of the structural gene of aldolase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **180**(2): 301-308.
- Seeboth, P. G., K. Bohnsack and C. P. Hollenberg (1990). "pdc1(0) mutants of Saccharomyces cerevisiae give evidence for an additional structural PDC gene: cloning of PDC5, a gene homologous to PDC1." <u>J Bacteriol</u> **172**(2): 678-685.
- Selimkhanov, J., B. Taylor, J. Yao, A. Pilko, J. Albeck, A. Hoffmann, L. Tsimring and R. Wollman (2014). "Systems biology. Accurate information transmission through dynamic biochemical signaling networks." <u>Science</u> 346(6215): 1370-1373.
- Serra-Cardona, A., S. Petrezselyova, D. Canadell, J. Ramos and J. Arino (2014). "Coregulated expression of the Na+/phosphate Pho89 transporter and Ena1 Na+-ATPase allows their functional coupling under high-pH stress." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **34**(24): 4420-4435.
- Shashkova, S., N. Welkenhuysen and S. Hohmann (2015). "Molecular communication: crosstalk between the Snf1 and other signaling pathways." <u>FEMS</u> <u>Yeast Res</u> **15**(4): fov026.

- Shi, S., Y. Chen, V. Siewers and J. Nielsen (2014). "Improving production of malonyl coenzyme A-derived metabolites by abolishing Snf1-dependent regulation of Acc1." <u>MBio</u> 5(3): e01130-01114.
- Shinoda, J. and Y. Kikuchi (2007). "Rod1, an arrestin-related protein, is phosphorylated by Snf1-kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Biochem Biophys</u> <u>Res Commun</u> **364**(2): 258-263.
- Simpson-Lavy, K. J. and M. Johnston (2013). "SUMOylation regulates the SNF1 protein kinase." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u>.
- Smith, M. G., S. G. Des Etages and M. Snyder (2004). "Microbial synergy via an ethanol-triggered pathway." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **24**(9): 3874-3884.
- Snowdon, C., C. Hlynialuk and G. van der Merwe (2008). "Components of the Vid30c are needed for the rapamycin-induced degradation of the high-affinity hexose transporter Hxt7p in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEMS Yeast Res</u> 8(2): 204-216.
- Snowdon, C. and G. van der Merwe (2012). "Regulation of Hxt3 and Hxt7 turnover converges on the Vid30 complex and requires inactivation of the Ras/cAMP/PKA pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(12): e50458.
- Sprague, G. F., Jr. (1977). "Isolation and characterization of a Saccharomyces cerevisiae mutant deficient in pyruvate kinase activity." J Bacteriol **130**(1): 232-241.
- St-Pierre, F. and D. Endy (2008). "Determination of cell fate selection during phage lambda infection." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **105**(52): 20705-20710.
- Tanaka, K., M. Nakafuku, T. Satoh, M. S. Marshall, J. B. Gibbs, K. Matsumoto, Y. Kaziro and A. Toh-e (1990). "S. cerevisiae genes IRA1 and IRA2 encode proteins that may be functionally equivalent to mammalian ras GTPase activating protein." <u>Cell</u> 60(5): 803-807.
- Thorsen, M., G. G. Perrone, E. Kristiansson, M. Traini, T. Ye, I. W. Dawes, O. Nerman and M. J. Tamas (2009). "Genetic basis of arsenite and cadmium tolerance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>BMC Genomics</u> 10: 105.
- Toda, T., S. Cameron, P. Sass, M. Zoller, J. D. Scott, B. McMullen, M. Hurwitz, E. G. Krebs and M. Wigler (1987). "Cloning and characterization of BCY1, a locus encoding a regulatory subunit of the cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 7(4): 1371-1377.

- Toda, T., S. Cameron, P. Sass, M. Zoller and M. Wigler (1987). "Three different genes in S. cerevisiae encode the catalytic subunits of the cAMP-dependent protein kinase." <u>Cell</u> **50**(2): 277-287.
- Tomas-Cobos, L. and P. Sanz (2002). "Active Snf1 protein kinase inhibits expression of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae HXT1 glucose transporter gene." <u>Biochem J</u> **368**(Pt 2): 657-663.
- Treitel, M. A. and M. Carlson (1995). "Repression by SSN6-TUP1 is directed by MIG1, a repressor/activator protein." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **92**(8): 3132-3136.
- Treitel, M. A., S. Kuchin and M. Carlson (1998). "Snf1 protein kinase regulates phosphorylation of the Mig1 repressor in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **18**(11): 6273-6280.
- Usaite, R., M. C. Jewett, A. P. Oliveira, J. R. Yates, 3rd, L. Olsson and J. Nielsen (2009). "Reconstruction of the yeast Snf1 kinase regulatory network reveals its role as a global energy regulator." <u>Mol Syst Biol</u> **5**: 319.
- van Heerden, J. H., M. T. Wortel, F. J. Bruggeman, J. J. Heijnen, Y. J. Bollen, R. Planque, J. Hulshof, T. G. O'Toole, S. A. Wahl and B. Teusink (2014). "Lost in transition: start-up of glycolysis yields subpopulations of nongrowing cells." <u>Science</u> 343(6174): 1245114.
- Wang, D. and S. Bodovitz (2010). "Single cell analysis: the new frontier in 'omics'." <u>Trends Biotechnol</u> **28**(6): 281-290.
- Wang, Y., M. Pierce, L. Schneper, C. G. Guldal, X. Zhang, S. Tavazoie and J. R. Broach (2004). "Ras and Gpa2 mediate one branch of a redundant glucose signaling pathway in yeast." <u>PLoS Biol</u> 2(5): E128.
- Ward, P., L. Equinet, J. Packer and C. Doerig (2004). "Protein kinases of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum: the kinome of a divergent eukaryote." <u>BMC Genomics</u> 5: 79.
- Watson, J. D. and F. H. Crick (1953). "The structure of DNA." <u>Cold Spring Harb</u> <u>Symp Quant Biol</u> 18: 123-131.
- Vega, M., A. Riera, A. Fernandez-Cid, P. Herrero and F. Moreno (2016). "Hexokinase 2 is an intracellular glucose sensor of yeast cells that maintains the structure and activity of Mig1 repressor complex." <u>J Biol Chem</u>.
- Velours, J. and G. Arselin (2000). "The Saccharomyces cerevisiae ATP synthase." J <u>Bioenerg Biomembr</u> **32**(4): 383-390.

- Wendell, D. L. and L. F. Bisson (1994). "Expression of high-affinity glucose transport protein Hxt2p of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is both repressed and induced by glucose and appears to be regulated posttranslationally." <u>J Bacteriol</u> 176(12): 3730-3737.
- Verwaal, R., M. Arako, R. Kapur, A. J. Verkleij, C. T. Verrips and J. Boonstra (2004). "HXT5 expression is under control of STRE and HAP elements in the HXT5 promoter." <u>Yeast</u> 21(9): 747-757.
- Verwaal, R., J. W. Paalman, A. Hogenkamp, A. J. Verkleij, C. T. Verrips and J. Boonstra (2002). "HXT5 expression is determined by growth rates in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>Yeast</u> **19**(12): 1029-1038.
- Westholm, J. O., N. Nordberg, E. Muren, A. Ameur, J. Komorowski and H. Ronne (2008). "Combinatorial control of gene expression by the three yeast repressors Mig1, Mig2 and Mig3." <u>BMC Genomics</u> 9: 601.
- Whitesides, G. M. (2006). "The origins and the future of microfluidics." <u>Nature</u> **442**(7101): 368-373.
- Wieczorke, R., S. Krampe, T. Weierstall, K. Freidel, C. P. Hollenberg and E. Boles (1999). "Concurrent knock-out of at least 20 transporter genes is required to block uptake of hexoses in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **464**(3): 123-128.
- Vincent, O. and M. Carlson (1998). "Sip4, a Snf1 kinase-dependent transcriptional activator, binds to the carbon source-responsive element of gluconeogenic genes." <u>The EMBO journal</u> **17**(23): 7002-7008.
- Vincent, O. and M. Carlson (1999). "Gal83 mediates the interaction of the Snf1 kinase complex with the transcription activator Sip4." <u>EMBO J</u> 18(23): 6672-6681.
- Vincent, O., R. Townley, S. Kuchin and M. Carlson (2001). "Subcellular localization of the Snf1 kinase is regulated by specific beta subunits and a novel glucose signaling mechanism." <u>Genes Dev</u> **15**(9): 1104-1114.
- Wolkenhauer, O. (2014). "Why model?" Front Physiol 5: 21.
- Xia, X., M. S. Owen, R. E. Lee and S. Gaudet (2014). "Cell-to-cell variability in cell death: can systems biology help us make sense of it all?" <u>Cell Death Dis</u> **5**: e1261.
- Xiao, B., M. J. Sanders, E. Underwood, R. Heath, F. V. Mayer, D. Carmena, C. Jing, P. A. Walker, J. F. Eccleston, L. F. Haire, P. Saiu, S. A. Howell, R. Aasland, S. R. Martin, D. Carling and S. J. Gamblin (2011). "Structure of mammalian AMPK and its regulation by ADP." <u>Nature</u> 472(7342): 230-233.

- Xue, Y., M. Batlle and J. P. Hirsch (1998). "GPR1 encodes a putative G proteincoupled receptor that associates with the Gpa2p Galpha subunit and functions in a Ras-independent pathway." <u>EMBO J</u> **17**(7): 1996-2007.
- Ye, T., L. Bendrioua, D. Carmena, R. Garcia-Salcedo, P. Dahl, D. Carling and S. Hohmann (2014). "The mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase complex mediates glucose regulation of gene expression in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>FEBS Lett</u> 588(12): 2070-2077.
- Ye, T., K. Elbing and S. Hohmann (2008). "The pathway by which the yeast protein kinase Snf1p controls acquisition of sodium tolerance is different from that mediating glucose regulation." <u>Microbiology</u> **154**(Pt 9): 2814-2826.
- Young, E. T., K. M. Dombek, C. Tachibana and T. Ideker (2003). "Multiple pathways are co-regulated by the protein kinase Snf1 and the transcription factors Adr1 and Cat8." J Biol Chem 278(28): 26146-26158.
- Young, E. T., C. Zhang, K. M. Shokat, P. K. Parua and K. A. Braun (2012). "The AMP-activated Protein Kinase Snf1 Regulates Transcription Factor Binding, RNA Polymerase II Activity, and mRNA Stability of Glucose-repressed Genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." J Biol Chem 287(34): 29021-29034.
- Zaman, S., S. I. Lippman, L. Schneper, N. Slonim and J. R. Broach (2009). "Glucose regulates transcription in yeast through a network of signaling pathways." <u>Molecular systems biology</u> 5: 245.
- Zechner, C., M. Unger, S. Pelet, M. Peter and H. Koeppl (2014). "Scalable inference of heterogeneous reaction kinetics from pooled single-cell recordings." <u>Nat</u> <u>Methods</u> 11(2): 197-202.
- Zhang, J., G. Vemuri and J. Nielsen (2010). "Systems biology of energy homeostasis in yeast." <u>Current opinion in microbiology</u> **13**(3): 382-388.
- Zhang, Y., R. R. McCartney, D. G. Chandrashekarappa, S. Mangat and M. C. Schmidt (2011). "Reg1 protein regulates phosphorylation of all three Snf1 isoforms but preferentially associates with the Gal83 isoform." <u>Eukaryot Cell</u> 10(12): 1628-1636.
- Özcan, S., J. Dover and M. Johnston (1998). "Glucose sensing and signaling by two glucose receptors in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>EMBO J</u> **17**(9): 2566-2573.
- Özcan, S., J. Dover, A. G. Rosenwald, S. Wolfl and M. Johnston (1996). "Two glucose transporters in Saccharomyces cerevisiae are glucose sensors that generate a signal for induction of gene expression." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **93**(22): 12428-12432.

- Özcan, S. and M. Johnston (1995). "Three different regulatory mechanisms enable yeast hexose transporter (HXT) genes to be induced by different levels of glucose." <u>Molecular and cellular biology</u> **15**(3): 1564-1572.
- Özcan, S. and M. Johnston (1996). "Two different repressors collaborate to restrict expression of the yeast glucose transporter genes HXT2 and HXT4 to low levels of glucose." <u>Molecular and cellular biology</u> **16**(10): 5536-5545.
- Özcan, S. and M. Johnston (1999). "Function and regulation of yeast hexose transporters." <u>Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR</u> **63**(3): 554-569.
- Özcan, S., T. Leong and M. Johnston (1996). "Rgt1p of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, a key regulator of glucose-induced genes, is both an activator and a repressor of transcription." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **16**(11): 6419-6426.